
1

NOTICE OF MEETING
HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY PANEL

TUESDAY, 24 NOVEMBER 2015 AT 9.30 AM

THE EXECUTIVE MEETING ROOM - THIRD FLOOR, THE GUILDHALL

Telephone enquiries to Jane Di Dino 023 9283 4060 or Lisa Gallacher 023 9283 4056
Email: jane.didino@portsmouthcc.gov.uk   lisa.gallacher@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

Membership

Councillor John Ferrett (Chair)
Councillor Phil Smith (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Jennie Brent
Councillor Alicia Denny
Councillor Gemma New
Councillor Lynne Stagg

Councillor Brian Bayford
Councillor Gwen Blackett
Councillor Peter Edgar
Councillor David Keast
Councillor Mike Read
Vacancy, East Hampshire District Council

Standing Deputies

Councillor Ryan Brent
Councillor Margaret Foster
Councillor Aiden Gray
Councillor Hannah Hockaday

Councillor Lee Hunt
Councillor Ian Lyon
Councillor Sandra Stockdale

(NB This agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk

A G E N D A

1  Welcome and Apologies for Absence 

2  Declarations of Members' Interests 

3  Minutes of the Previous Meeting 

The minutes of the meeting on 3 November will be attached for approval at 



2

the next main meeting on 2 February 2016. 

4  Urgent Care and Walk in Centres (Pages 1 - 64)

The panel will discuss the Guildhall Walk Consultation Document and the 
Communications and Engagement plan from Portsmouth Clinical 
Commissioning Group, which is attached.     

the panel will also hear from:

St Mary's Walk in Centre 
Paul Fisher, Minor Injuries Unit/ Minor Illnesses Unit Service Manager.
Penny Daniels, Hospital Director. 
Dr Deb Jeavans-Fellowes, Operations Manager.

Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre 
Kim Dennis, Service Manager

Members of the public are now permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social 
media during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting or records 
those stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at 
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the 
meeting's venue.



1Public Consultation Document | Public Consultation Document

Public Consultation Document

NHS services at Guildhall Walk 
Healthcare Centre

November 2015



2 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

COSHAM

PAULSGROVE

DRAYTON

HILSEA

TIPNER

CITY CENTRE

NORTH
END

FRATTON

COPNOR

ANCHORAGE
PARK

BAFFINS

SOUTHSEA

EASTNEY

MILTON

53

4
2

1

©
 C

ro
w

n 
C

op
yr

ig
ht

 a
nd

 d
at

ab
as

e 
rig

ht
 2

01
5.

 O
rd

na
nc

e 
Su

rv
ey

 li
ce

nc
e 

nu
m

be
r 

10
00

19
67

1.

Health service locations

QA Hospital

St Mary’s Treatment Centre

Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Somerstown Central

John Pounds Centre

1

2

3

5

4

3

2

1

4

5



3Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Services you can use 
when you need NHS 
help in a hurry

This document puts forward some proposals that might affect the 
way we provide walk-in centres for minor injury or minor illness 
in future. The service will still be available but might, in future, be 
provided in a different way.

There are, however, a wide range of services you can use when you need 
help from the NHS in a hurry, and which may be a better option for you 
than going to the Emergency Department at Queen Alexandra Hospital.

There are more choices than ever before for people needing urgent – but 
not emergency – NHS care.

■■ NHS 111 – call if you need advice, or if you are unsure what to do 
regarding a health problem. Open 24 hours a day, every day.

■■ GPs – local GPs offer same-day ‘urgent’ appointments, and run clinics 
outside normal office hours. Ask for details at your surgery.

■■ Pharmacies – expert advice and medicines, in convenient locations. 
Most pharmacies now have private consultation areas and many 
are now running a Pharmacy FIRST scheme that allows people who 
receive free prescriptions to go straight to their pharmacist to receive 
treatment, for selected minor ailments, without needing to visit their 
GP to get a prescription.

■■ Out-of-hours GP services – just because it is the evening or the 
weekend, doesn’t mean you can’t get a doctor. Call the NHS 111 
number.

If you haven’t seen it, our popular handy guide to all the local urgent 
care options is available on our website www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk   
and can be downloaded or printed off.



4 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Contents

Urgent Care: the vision for the future.................................................... 5

Section 1: The case for change............................................................. 6

Section 2: Improving urgent care: what we have learned.................... 11

Section 3: Improving urgent care: other key factors............................ 15

Pull-out survey

Section 4: Supporting information...................................................... 22

Section 5: The future of the GP practice.............................................. 27

Section 6: Summary, and how you get involved.................................. 31

Glossary............................................................................................... 33

This consultation runs until Friday February 19th 2016 – please 
ensure we have your comments by then. You can respond either by 
sending the completed pull-out survey form (see centre pages)  
to: Freepost NHS PORTSMOUTH (you do not need to add any 
other address details on your envelope as these are not required) or 
by going online to www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk 
and completing the survey there. Thank you for taking part in this 
consultation.

We will be running a series of drop-in sessions at locations across the 
city over the consultation period. You can find details on our website: 
www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk



5Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Urgent Care: the  
vision for the future

In the last decade, urgent care services have changed beyond all 
recognition.

In a relatively short period of time, people needing urgent health care 
–  effectively, the times when you need help or advice quickly, but it is 
not a medical emergency – have seen walk-in centres spring up, GPs 
start to offer different types of ‘same-day’ clinics or consultations, the 
introduction of the NHS 111 phone service, and pharmacies extending 
the support and treatments they offer.

And what is the result of this big expansion in the options available? 
People still say they can’t see a GP as quickly as they would like, and 
some still wait longer for emergency care in A&E than they should. 

Clearly, the NHS needs to take stock and develop urgent care services 
which give local people a better service, which is easier to access.

We want to deliver:

> Joined up care
So people get the care they need – all of it, not just  
some – without being ‘bounced’ to other services,  
or referred elsewhere, unless absolutely necessary. 

> Simple choices
To make it easy for people to get the health care they need without 
having to worry about whether they are in the ‘right’ place or not, 
and to cut down the times that patients are handed over from one 
service to another.

> High quality care
Expert staff, backed up by modern equipment and technology, in the 
best possible premises.

> Specialist expertise
Strengthening A&E and ambulance services so that they have the 
skills and capacity to give people high-quality, life-saving care when 
they are in crisis.

That is what we want to see, and what local people have a right to 
expect from their NHS. This document will describe in more detail how 
the local health service believes it can begin to move towards that vision 
of better urgent care, and how you can contribute to that process.



6 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Section 1

The case for change

Introduction

Up and down the country, the last decade has seen a revolution in the 
way that the NHS cares for people who need speedy treatment or advice, 
but who do not need emergency care.

Portsmouth is no exception – in 2005 the St Mary’s Treatment Centre was 
opened, then in 2009 Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre was opened, 
and in 2013 the Urgent Care Centre was set up at Queen Alexandra (QA) 
Hospital. Add in the start of NHS Direct, which then became the NHS 111 
phone service, changes to the way GPs provide out-of-hours care, and 
the hours their surgeries open for, and the development of community 
pharmacies – it is clear that investment has piled in, and choice has been 
hugely expanded.

The only problem is... none of this seems to have quite worked as it was 
intended to. Pressure on A&E and GPs is still intense, and growing. People 
have grown increasingly confused as to which service they should use, 
and when. Patients end up being shuffled from one place to another, 
because services have become disjointed.

So, what now?

In 2016 the local NHS has a chance to look again at how to give local 
people the best possible urgent care services. During 2016 the contracts 
for the services currently run from the Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre – 
the ‘walk-in’ service for all local people, and the GP practice which serves its 
7,000 registered patients – will expire. The contracts cannot simply be left 
in place after that point – legally, they must be opened up to competition 
– and so the local NHS needs to consider how services can be improved.

NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), the organisation 
in charge of deciding how to spend more than £290m of NHS funding in 
the city each year, has already spent many months discussing the future 
of these services, both with clinicians and local people. As a result of 
those discussions, a preferred option has been developed:

To move the GP-led ‘walk-in’ service from its current location at Guildhall 
Walk, and relocate it so that it sits alongside the existing walk-in service 
at St Mary’s Treatment Centre. This will create a single, enhanced walk-
in service at St Mary’s that includes both GPs and nurses, which treats 
both minor injuries and minor illnesses, which is backed up by modern 
facilities and diagnostic equipment, and which has well-established links 
with specialist hospital teams and ambulance crews.



7Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

In turn, this proposal has implications for those people who are registered 
as patients at Guildhall Walk – there is a section specifically for this group 
of people towards the end of the document (on page 27).

This would create a combined facility which would be better than either 
of the two options currently available – GPs and nurses would work 
alongside each other, they would have instant access to diagnostics  
such as x-rays, and instant links with emergency specialists at A&E, in  
a building which is modern and designed specifically for healthcare.

At the moment, some local people get some of those benefits, some 
of the time. This proposal is intended to give an improved urgent care 
service, for everyone, all of the time.

Better standards of care

The preferred option of creating a combined, enhanced walk-in centre at 
St Mary’s Community Health Campus would secure many improvements.

Patient care would be better 

Today on Portsea Island there are two walk-in centres for urgent care. 
Both are good services with real strengths, but both also have limitations.

Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre is led by GPs, is popular, and is centrally 
located. But... it has no diagnostic facilities, it is not a centre for minor 
injuries, the premises are dated and cramped, and ambulance crews do 
not take patients there as an alternative to A&E at QA.

St Mary’s Treatment Centre does have diagnostic facilities (such as X-ray), 
modern premises, direct links with A&E, staff can treat both injuries and 
illness, and they can receive patients directly from ambulance crews when 
appropriate. But... the centre is nurse-led, with no GPs, and so cannot 
always treat the people who go there, and may even have to turn patients 
away if their health problem has previously been discussed with a GP.

Bringing the two services together at St Mary’s Treatment Centre would 
give patients all of the benefits offered by the two services, but without 
the limitations.



8 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

With a combined, enhanced service at St Mary’s:

■■ Everyone could be seen by either a GP or nurse, whichever was right 
for them

■■ Patients needing X-rays or other diagnostic tests would get the service 
they needed, on the same site – with no need to be sent elsewhere

■■ There would be a dedicated service, in a separate area, for children

■■ When diagnostic checks were needed, the IT systems would allow 
results to be shared with specialists at QA, instantly

■■ Nobody would be ‘bounced’ back to their GP, or another service, 
because they were in the wrong place – they would get right 
treatment or advice, then and there

■■ All walk-in urgent care would be delivered in modern, custom-built 
premises.

Choices would be simpler

At the moment, people who are worried about their health (or the 
health of someone they care for) have a wider range of choices than ever 
before. But this also means that people have to make more complicated 
decisions about their own care than ever before.

People are effectively being asked to make their own diagnosis, before 
they can choose which service they need. Today, someone in Portsmouth 
with a health concern needs to decide whether they need to go to A&E, 
wait for a GP appointment, contact the out-of-hours GP service, call NHS 
111 for advice, visit a pharmacy, treat themselves at home, or head to a 
walk-in centre.

And if the choice is to go to a walk-in centre, there are further decisions 
to make. The person must decide whether their problem is ‘only’ an 
injury, for example, or whether it could instead be linked to an underlying 
illness. If it is thought to be simply an injury, that would rule out Guildhall 
Walk, but if the problem might be linked to an illness or condition then 
yet another choice is required between the GP-led service at Guildhall 
Walk, or the nurse-led service at St Mary’s.

Nationally, NHS leaders are saying that the system has become too 
complicated, and locally the ending of the contracts for health services 
at Guildhall Walk offers the chance to start the process of simplifying the 
choices that people face.

Making the system simpler isn’t just a nice ambition to have – it is 
fundamentally important. If people find it hard to decide which service 
to use, the risk is that they simply head to A&E as the default option. It is 
essential that the NHS does everything it can to relieve pressure on A&E 
staff so that they can focus on giving their expert care to people in the 
greatest need, and that means simplifying urgent care services so it is 
easier for people to make the right choice.



9Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Resources would be used more effectively

With more of us living into our eighties, nineties and beyond, the NHS 
needs to use every penny it has wisely, to make sure that people have 
the care and support they need. Creating a combined, enhanced walk-
in service on Portsea Island would allow the local NHS to use the limited 
resources it has more wisely. 

Currently the NHS pays for Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre to operate 
from a private, rented building – while at the same time there is plenty 
of empty space available in city buildings which are owned by the health 
service. The NHS must consider whether it is right to pay scarce public 
money to private landlords, when it has modern premises which are not 
being fully used – moving the walk-in service to St Mary’s, and the GP 
practice to another building, would allow resources to be invested in 
developing services, instead of paying rent.

Creating a single, enhanced walk-in service would also allow the local 
health service to use the scarce supply of doctors and nurses more 
effectively, and make better use of the modern facilities – such as 
X-rays – which exist at St Mary’s. As the NHS considers how to move 
towards seven-day services, it is essential to use all available resources as 
efficiently as possible.

Keeping NHS services on Portsea Island for the long term

Creating a combined, enhanced urgent care facility at St Mary’s would 
reinforce the role of the site as a key, strategic site for the NHS, being a 
centre for healthcare within the city for years into the future.

In the early 2000s when most hospital services were moved to the new QA 
‘superhospital’ many people – both inside the health service, and outside 
– fought hard to keep St Mary’s as a centre for NHS services and that 
ambition remains. Hundreds of people already use services at St Mary’s 
each week, and the range of services available there is still being expanded.

In the future, there will be far more NHS services set up in community-
based centres - bringing together GPs, home visiting teams, mental 
health services, diagnostics, therapists and nurses, so that the vast 
majority of NHS care is available close to people’s homes, instead of in 
major hospitals. These centres would offer patients a far more complete 
service if they included urgent care services too – whether a walk-
in centre, ‘rapid response’ teams, or GPs offering same-day booked 
appointments – and St Mary’s is a natural choice to be one of these 
community centres in the future.



10 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

The wider impact of change

Moving the GP-led walk-in service from Guildhall Walk to St Mary’s 
appears, on the face of it, to be a relatively simple matter of moving the 
service about two miles down the road. However, the proposal is not 
quite that simple.

As well as the walk-in service, there is also a GP practice at Guildhall 
Walk Healthcare Centre, and the contract for this practice also runs out 
in 2016. Moving the walk-in service has clear implications for the GP 
practice, and so the NHS must also make decisions about the service that 
patients need, and where those services should be.

The CCG will be consulting separately with the 7,000 people, many of 
them young adults and students, who are registered at Guildhall Walk. 
That discussion will involve asking about where a new practice should 
be, the hours it should be open, and the way it should operate – for 
example, whether patients should have the chance to simply turn up 
and wait to see a doctor or nurse, or whether they should have to book 
appointments in the traditional way.

In this process, the CCG must try to strike a balance between securing a 
good service for the 7,000 people registered at the practice, and being fair 
to the other 200,000+ people registered with a GP in the city. At the moment, 
access to GPs and practice nurses is not evenly spread across the city.

GP practices like the Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre were set up 
through a national policy, not through local decisions. The way that the 
government set up the centres means that the local NHS has to pay a 
premium rate to the practice so it can afford to offer seven-day, 12-hour 
access to its patients. The other 30 surgeries in the city, however, are funded 
less generously and so can only offer more traditional opening hours.

In short, the local NHS is paying extra to one practice to provide its 7,000 
patients with much better and more convenient access to their GP than 
can be enjoyed by more than 200,000 residents who are registered at 
other city practices. The NHS must address that basic unfairness. Ideally, 
of course, every practice would be able to open seven days a week but 
that would need dozens of GPs, and millions of pounds – resources 
which simply do not exist at the current time. The local NHS is talking 
to city GPs and working to improve access for everyone, not just a small 
group, in line with the national drive towards seven-day services.



11Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Section 2

Improving urgent care: 
what we have learned

Over the last 18 months the CCG has sought the views of as many 
people as possible – both members of the public, and clinicians – 
to learn more about what people think of the current set-up, how 
and why they make decisions when they need urgent care, and 
what changes they think could improve services.

These views have led the NHS to the position it holds today, that its 
preferred option to improve urgent care is to combine the city’s two 
walk-in services at the St Mary’s site.

Urgent care – overall messages

The CCG has carried out three significant surveys focussing on urgent 
care services, engaging with residents in Portsmouth, Fareham, Gosport, 
and South Eastern Hampshire. Each survey was different but the intention 
was to learn more about the decisions people make when they think 
they need urgent care, why they make those decisions, and how services 
could be improved.

In terms of urgent care generally, there were several clear themes:

■■ People are confused. For example, only 25% of city respondents said 
that they knew the differences between St Mary’s Treatment Centre 
and Guildhall Walk walk-in services – and in reality even fewer still 
could actually explain the differences correctly

■■ People are finding it hard to remain well-informed. For example, 
almost one-third of people don’t know that GPs offer same-day 
appointments

■■ Being offered simple choices – even if that might mean fewer choices – 
is felt by many to be a good way of improving the urgent care system

■■ GPs are the preferred, trusted option for minor illnesses, but for minor 
injuries people look to walk in facilities

■■ Location is important, although almost 60% of city survey respondents 
think travelling up to 3–4 miles between home and a walk-in centre is 
reasonable.

There was also engagement with GP practices. GPs endorsed the idea 
of keeping the minor injury walk-in service at St Mary’s, but were less 
convinced that a nurse-led minor illness service on that site is the best 
solution – a GP-led service at St Mary’s, however, was felt to have more 
value for patients, and to be more effective.

GPs said that they wanted the capacity to care for their own patients in 
normal working hours, but some had concerns whether current primary 
care services (by which we mean services delivered by GPs and practice 



12 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

nurses, in community settings such as local surgeries) were keeping pace 
with demand. Given that, practices recognised that it was valuable to 
retain a GP-led walk-in service in the city, because that would help them 
to meet patient needs until a wider review of primary care found new 
ways to ensure that patients can access GPs seven days a week in the 
future.

Urgent care – specific feedback

As well as asking for general feedback about urgent care, the CCG has also 
been asking people what they think about the specific proposal to move 
the walk-in service from Guildhall Walk to St Mary’s. Again, this engagement 
work produced some clear themes in terms of the feedback received:

■■ Asked about the most important factors for the NHS to consider when 
deciding whether to relocate the walk-in service from Guildhall Walk 
to St Mary’s approximately two-thirds of respondents cited the quality 
of care as the biggest concern, with access also being important to 
people – 65% highlighted travelling distance, and 58% highlighted 
the importance of having a service near the city centre. Approximately 
a third of respondents stated the most important factor was ensuring 
best possible value for public money, or bringing GPs, nurses and 
diagnostics together in one place

■■ When asked for the single most important factor to be considered, 
access was key – a quarter chose a city centre location as the prime 
consideration, and a further 22% chose travelling distance

■■ When asked to raise concerns about the possible move, more than half 
(55%) expressed doubts that St Mary’s had the capacity to cope with 
the extra activity, 40% feared a reduction in quality, and 39% said they 
would have further to travel

The CCG also approached the independent Healthwatch Portsmouth 
to ask whether the organisation could carry out some additional 
engagement. The conclusions of Healthwatch following its engagement 
work included:

■■ There were concerns about access from the western side of the city to 
St Mary’s, and further concerns over the adequacy and affordability of 
car parking facilities at St Mary’s 

■■ Some respondents questioned whether a single facility would have the 
capacity to respond to current and future demand, and whether that 
could lead to increased waiting times at St Mary’s

■■ Concerns exist about the quality and range of services that would 
need to be provided in a combined walk-in facility, including crisis and 
mental health services. 

This initial engagement has allowed the CCG to identify the main 
questions which people have raised up until this point, in relation to a 
proposal to create a combined, enhanced walk-in service at St Mary’s. 



13Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

The questions are:

“Would there be enough capacity at St Mary’s to cope with a 
larger service?”
The CCG has sought assurance from the current provider of the service 
that St Mary’s has the capacity to cope with a larger service – both in 
terms of physical space, and in terms of staffing levels. On both counts 
we have received reassurance - confirmation that the building can easily 
be adapted to provide the additional space required to add more treatment 
cubicles, and that staffing will be managed flexibly to match the demand.

“What about public transport to St Mary’s?”
St Mary’s Community Health Campus is a strategic health site on Portsea 
Island. It houses a number of important health services, not just the 
Treatment Centre, and hundreds of people already use the site every 
week for health care. It is accessible, with regular bus services right next 
to the site throughout the day and at weekends, and people already 
access the minor injuries service from across the whole city, including the 
western side. However, the CCG acknowledges there are fewer public 
transport links than the city centre, and so is seeking advice from 
Portsmouth City Council regarding the possibility of changes to existing 
bus services serving the Milton/St Mary’s area, and would seek discussions 
with transport providers to explore possible options for bus services.

“Would there be enough car parking at St Mary’s?”
Pay and display car parking facilities are available on site (258 spaces) 
although clearly the perception is that the car park is regularly very busy, 
making it difficult for people to park. A proposal has been drawn up by 
Solent NHS Trust to put a multi-storey car park facility on the site, which 
would be subject to planning consent, as part of wider plans for the NHS 
to bring more services together at St Mary’s.

Solent NHS Trust has a Parking Policy that prioritises the parking needs of 
patients, visitors and staff who need to use a vehicle to perform their duties. 
Staff working at St Mary’s are currently encouraged to use an additional 
60 leased spaces which have recently been made available at the Kingston 
Prison site, and this is expected to have a positive impact for patients. 

Whilst car parking is an important issue it should be noted that the 
demand for GP-led walk-in services is likely to be greatest on Saturdays, 
Sundays, and the hours after GPs surgeries are closed. At these times 
there is significantly less demand for parking spaces at the St Mary’s site.

“Why propose to take facilities away from the city centre?”
Taking both the GP practice and the walk-in service away from the city 
centre at the same time would be a major change. Therefore, the preferred 
option is to keep the GP practice near to the city centre, but located in 
existing empty NHS space nearby, rather than a privately rented building.  
There are also other GP practices available in the city centre too, some of 
which have signalled their ability to register new patients and the area is 
well served by pharmacies which can offer expert advice on and treatment 
for a range of minor illnesses. We will further promote the greater use of 
pharmacies generally, in line with our Pharmacy First scheme. 



14 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

“Won’t waiting times increase if all walk-in services are 
combined at St Mary’s?”	

Currently the two walk-in services work to different waiting times targets 
– at Guildhall Walk patients must be seen within two hours, at St Mary’s 
the target is four hours, although in reality more than two-thirds of patients 
are actually seen within two hours at St Mary’s, and few wait for four hours.

It is the case that a combined service at St Mary’s would be monitored 
against the four-hour target, but the capacity for treating people would 
be no less than it is today, across two sites. Indeed, integrating the two 
services should allow more flexible use of the workforce, which may 
reduce waiting times for patients. 

“What will students do if the services move?”
Students will be extended every opportunity to take part in the formal 
consultation process, as will the University of Portsmouth, which the CCG 
is aware has plans to expand its centrally-located student accommodation. 
Plans have been discussed with University representatives – their 
preference would be to retain a walk-in service in the city centre but they 
are willing to work with the NHS to ensure students, as a fundamental 
first step, register with a local GP of their own, and are informed 
regarding the many options available to them for urgent care.  

“Why change at all?” (“If it ‘ain’t broke, why fix it?”)

As explained earlier in this document, the number of urgent care services 
in Portsmouth has expanded considerably in the last 10 years or so, but 
without necessarily delivering the results we would all want to see – 
particularly in terms of reducing pressure on GPs, and A&E. The local NHS 
now has the opportunity, when the contract for NHS services at Guildhall 
Walk expires in 2016, to rethink how these walk-in services work as well as 
aiming to give all patients across the city higher quality, more accessible 
primary care more generally. In an ideal world everyone would already be 
able to see a GP seven days a week, but neither the doctors or the funding 
for that exist at the moment. Instead, the NHS needs to use all the resources 
it has to begin to work towards that goal. Any proposals for changes are 
not a reflection on the service, or the staff, at Guildhall Walk – it is widely 
recognised as a good and popular service, albeit one that would be 
subject to periodic contract review.

“What about the impact on the vulnerable patients?”
It is recognised that Guildhall Walk Healthcare centre caters for vulnerable 
patient groups, and the CCG fully accepts that specific arrangements 
must be made to continue – and in fact improve – the care available.  
The CCG has already been generously supported by the Salvation Army, 
and PUSH (helping those with substance misuse problems) to begin to 
understand the needs of some of these vulnerable groups better, and 
more detailed engagement work will continue regardless of the outcome 
of this public consultation. Maintaining a service specifically tailored for 
these groups is a non-negotiable commitment made by the CCG.



15Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Section 3

Improving urgent care: 
other key factors

The national context

There is a national consensus that the systems of urgent care which have 
grown up across the country need revisiting, and that the focus on promoting 
an ever-widening range of available choices may have gone too far.

The 2014 Urgent and Emergency Care Review set out the need for  
“co-location of community-based urgent care services in co-ordinated 
Urgent Care Centres”, as the NHS in Portsmouth is now proposing with 
the preferred option of a combined walk-in service at St Mary’s Hospital.

The 2014 Review also recommended the development of combined 
Urgent Care Centres to provide “access to walk-in minor illness and 
minor injury services” – again, just as is now proposed in Portsmouth. 
The review also advocated placing these urgent care centres next to 
hospital facilities, as would be the case at St Mary’s.

These conclusions followed on from the 2013 findings of the NHS medical 
director Professor Sir Bruce Keogh, in his Phase 1 report into Transforming 
Urgent and Emergency Care Services in England. His verdict was:

“Previously we have tried to deal with increasing demand by 
developing new facilities. Although well-conceived and well-
intentioned, these have created additional complexity and confusion, 
not just for patients but also for those working in the NHS.

“Starting from scratch, nobody would design the current array of 
alternatives and their configuration. A short history of the last 30 
years reveals that we have opened ‘walk-in centres’, ‘minor injury 
units’, ‘urgent care centres’ and a vast range of similarly named 
facilities that all offer slightly different services, at slightly different 
times, in different places.

“A telephone service, NHS Direct, was introduced in 1998, and  
last year was replaced by NHS 111. Even the simple task of ringing 
a GP practice to request an appointment can result in a frustrating 
assault course on a telephone keypad.

“All the public want to know is that if an urgent care problem ever 
arises, they can access a service that will ensure they get the right 
care when they need it. They do not want to decide whether they 
should go to a Minor Injuries Unit, a Walk-In Centre or A&E, or 
whether they should ring their GP, 111 or 999. We shouldn’t expect 
people to make informed, rational decisions at a crisis point in their 
lives: the system should be intuitive, and should help people to make 
the right decision. We have created a complicated system which in 
itself has contributed to increasing demand by sending people around 
various services, confused about who to call and where to go.”



16 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

More recently, at the 2015 Annual NHS Conference, NHS England Chief 
Executive Simon Stevens stated: 

“We need to redesign the way our urgent care system works. The 
current system is confusing the public. We have to do a better job of 
joining it up. We need to simplify the urgent care ‘spaghetti’ so we 
can manage the demands being placed on us.”

The CCG would fully endorse the direction of travel nationally, and has 
developed its preferred option – to bring the city’s two walk-in services 
together at St Mary’s Treatment Centre – with the national policy 
direction in mind.

The Portsmouth ‘Blueprint’

The one certainty which always faces the NHS is that change is never 
far away. With people living longer and longer lives, new treatments 
being developed, patient expectations rising all the time, and demand 
growing faster than funding, it is simply not realistic to expect the NHS to 
continue operating in much the same way as before, and still be able to 
cope.

In addition to those pressures, there are also real challenges in terms of 
the workforce. Nationally, and locally, there are shortages of many key 
staff, including GPs, A&E specialists, and experienced nursing staff.

The answer cannot be ‘more of the same’, and so locally health and social 
care leaders are developing the Portsmouth Blueprint. This new approach 
will set out a future which moves away from the traditional model of 
small-scale, individual GP practices working independently, separate from 
community and mental health services, and local social care. 

Instead, the Blueprint makes the case that primary care must be delivered 
at a larger scale and that the traditional barriers between primary care, 
community and mental health care, and social care, must be broken 
down. In practical terms this will mean the development of primary care 
‘hubs’, which physically bring together a far greater range of services, 
including same-day access to primary care, home-visiting, diagnostics, 
community beds, and health promotion / wellbeing services. St Mary’s, as 
a key strategic site for the NHS in Portsmouth, offers an ideal opportunity 
to be the home of one of these hubs in the future and so an enhanced 
walk-in service there fits the bigger picture of how care will be delivered 
closer to people’s homes in the years ahead.



17Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

The options appraisal

The NHS only settled on its preferred option of creating a combined 
walk-in service at St Mary’s after spending approximately 18 months 
talking to local clinicians, and engaging with local patients, to ensure 
that any proposed solution was the best possible option for city residents. 
Clearly, whenever any decision is reached there will be some people 
who feel disadvantaged by the change and others who feel that they 
benefit, but the NHS has tried to keep in mind the overriding objective of 
delivering the best possible service for Portsmouth patients. 

In broad terms, the choice came down to the following four options:

> Option 1
No change - Leave both the walk-in service, and the GP practice, at 
Guildhall Walk

> Option 2
Move the walk-in service to St Mary’s, retaining the GP surgery at 
Guildhall Walk

> Option 3
Move the walk-in service to St Mary’s, move the GP surgery to 
alternative NHS space in city centre

> Option 4
Move the walk-in service to St Mary’s and close the GP surgery

The NHS conducted a formal ‘options appraisal’ of each of these 
four alternatives, to see which one should be chosen as the preferred 
approach, before a period of public consultation was carried out. This 
process set out the benefits, and the challenges, of each option and you 
can see a summary of this on pages 18–21.



18 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Option 1 
No change

GP-led walk-in activity and GP practice to be delivered from its 
current location (Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre) 

Issues
■■ Crucially the CCG is required, by law, to open up the contract for the 
GP service to a competitive procurement process, and so is not able to 
simply allow the contract to roll on

■■ Urgent care system remains as complex as now
■■ Confusion as to the difference between the Guildhall Walk and St 
Mary’s would remain 

■■ Guildhall Walk still has no access to diagnostics, limiting improvements 
to the quality of patient care

■■ Could make the situation more complicated. In the last year the CCG has 
conducted a separate procurement exercise for services across Portsmouth 
and south east Hampshire – including both planned operations and a 
nurse-led walk-in service at St Mary’s. This contract also included agreeing 
to fund a GP-led walk-in service in the city, but did not stipulate where 
that service should go, in advance of public consultation. If that service 
was located at Guildhall Walk, it would raise the possibility of a GP-led 
walk-in service run and staffed by one organisation sharing a building 
with a GP practice run and staffed by an entirely separate group. 
Alternatively, if the walk-in service was elsewhere in Portsmouth 
(except St Mary’s) then the fragmentation of services would remain.

■■ Empty space in NHS buildings elsewhere remains unused 
■■ Least financially beneficial, reducing scope to invest in improved access 
to primary care for all areas of the city, to reduce current unfairness

■■ More difficult to develop new models of care for urgent and primary care.

Benefits
■■ The majority of patients registered at Guildhall Walk live within a one 
mile radius of the premises. This option would ensure those patients 
can still access services within close proximity to their residence

■■ Patients registered at Guildhall Walk will not have to register at 
another practice within the city

■■ Students would continue to have direct access to both services and 
would therefore have a better NHS service than many other residents 
in Portsmouth

■■ Access to a walk-in service in a city centre location would be retained.

Annual cost
■■ Anticipated cost: £1.42m per year
■■ Anticipated saving (compared to current costs): £0.15m



APublic Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Public consultation:  
NHS services at Guildhall Walk
You can also respond to the consultation online –  
please visit www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk

PULL-OUT SURVEY QUESTIONS

Some details about you

All responses are entirely anonymous, but we would 
like to ask for a few details about you, so we can find 
out a little more about the people we are hearing from.

1.	 Gender: Are you...

 Female	  Male	  Prefer not to say

2.	 Age: Are you...

 24 or under	  25–34	  35–44

 45–54	  55–64	  65–74

 75 or older

3.	 Where do you live? (postcode areas)

 PO1	  PO2	  PO3

 PO4	  PO5	  PO6

 PO7–PO11	  PO12–PO16

 Other (please specify)  

4.	 Do you have dependent children, or 
provide care for someone?

 Yes, I have dependent children

 Yes, I am responsible for caring for a partner 
/ friend / relative

 Yes, I have dependent children and I am 
responsible for caring for a partner / friend / 
relative

 No

5.	 Do you consider yourself to have a disability?

 Yes	  No	  Prefer not to say

6.	 If ‘yes’, please tell us what your disability is. 
(You may select as many options as applicable)

 Learning disability / difficulty

 Long-standing illness

 Mental health condition

 Physical impairment

 Sensory impairment

 Prefer not to say

 Other (please specify)

 

7.	 Would you describe your sexuality as:

 Heterosexual	  Bisexual

 Gay man	  Lesbian / gay woman

 Prefer not to say

8.	 Would you describe your ethnic origin as:

 White, British

 White, Irish

 Any other white 
background

 Indian

 Pakistani

 Bangladeshi

 Any other Asian 
background

 Caribbean

 African

 Any other black 
background

 Chinese

 Mixed: white and 
black Caribbean

 Mixed: white and 
black African

 Mixed: white and 
Asian

 Any other mixed 
background

 Prefer not to say

9.	 Would you describe your religious beliefs as:

 Buddhism	  Christianity	  Hinduism

 Islam	  Judaism	  Sikhism

 None / Atheism

 Prefer not to say

 Other religious belief (please specify)



B Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Your opinions on the preferred option for NHS walk-in services in Portsmouth. 

The first two questions (10,11) seek to understand what you believe to be the advantages and disadvantages 
of the preferred option for NHS urgent care walk-in services. The next two (12,13) look at what you think will 
are the most important things that the NHS must consider when making a decision. The more specific the 
answer is, the more useful it will be.

10.	 The CCG’s preferred option is to relocate the ‘walk-in’ service from Guildhall Walk to create a 
combined, enhanced walk-in centre at St Mary’s Hospital. What do you think are the potential 
benefits of such a proposal?

11.	 The CCG’s preferred option is to relocate the ‘walk-in’ service from Guildhall Walk to create a 
combined, enhanced walk-in centre at St Mary’s Hospital. What do you think are the potential 
disadvantages of such a proposal?

12.	 What do you think are the most important factors for the CCG to consider when deciding 
whether to create a single, combined walk-in service at St Mary’s Treatment Centre?

PULL-OUT SURVEY QUESTIONS

Questions 10 to 13 are for walk-in patients, but if you are a registered patient at Guildhall Walk, you 
may answer these questions too.



CPublic Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

PULL-OUT SURVEY QUESTIONS

13.	 Are there any other factors, not addressed in the consultation document, which you think must 
be considered by the CCG before any decision is made?

Continuation space if required



D Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

PULL-OUT SURVEY QUESTIONS

Please send your completed survey, by Friday 19th February 2016, to us at:  

Freepost NHS PORTSMOUTH   
(You do not need to add any other address details (road, town, postcode) as these are not required.)

Your views on the proposed new GP surgery in 
central Portsmouth. 

These questions are intended to get your views on 
where a new surgery might be located, and how it 
might be run.

14.	 The preferred option for the future of the 
GP practice at Guildhall Walk is to open a 
new practice in another location, near to 
the city centre, in a building already paid 
for by the NHS. The most likely options are 
Somerstown Central, or the John Pounds 
Centre. Would your preference be:

 Somerstown Central

 John Pounds Centre

 Don’t know / don’t mind

15.	 To what extent do you agree that a new 
GP practice should offer its patients a ‘walk 
in and wait’ service, rather than relying on 
booked appointments?

 Strongly agree

 Agree

 Neither agree nor disagree

 Disagree

 Strongly disagree

 Don’t know

16.	 In terms of the opening hours of a new 
practice, which two of the following 
options would be most useful to you 
personally.

 Early mornings (Monday–Friday)

 Evenings (Monday–Friday)

 Saturday mornings

 Saturday afternoons

 Sundays

Other factors to be considered 

This section is intended for you to raise any other 
issues which you feel are important.

17.	 Is there anything else, not covered by the 
previous questions, that the NHS should 
consider regarding the preferred option 
of moving the GP practice away from 
Guildhall Walk, and into another central 
location in Portsmouth?

 	
Questions 14–17 should only be answered by people who are  
registered as patients at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre



19Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Option 2 
Move walk-in to St Mary’s, retain 
GP surgery at Guildhall Walk

GP-led walk-in activity provided at St Mary’s Treatment Centre, 
and GP practice delivered from its current location (Guildhall Walk 
Healthcare Centre) 

Issues

■■ Seeking to retain the GP practice at Guildhall Walk would not allow 
the better use of the empty NHS space within the city and therefore 
would miss an opportunity to optimise the use of estates already for 
paid for by the NHS

■■ Could actually worsen the cost of paying for empty space as the 
delivery of primary medical care services in isolation, without the 
provision of a walk-in centre, would create additional empty space 
within Guildhall Walk, representing poorer value for money

■■ Patients living on the west side of the city would feel that access to  
St Mary’s is more difficult than to the city centre.

Benefits

■■ Simpler urgent care system for patients to navigate and no confusion 
over which walk-in service to use

■■ This option would give all walk-in services access to a wider array of 
diagnostics and tests at St Mary’s, improving the quality of patient care

■■ Patients would no longer be re-directed to the other walk-in centre (or 
back to their GP) in the city as they had attended the ‘wrong’ facility

■■ The majority of patients registered at the Guildhall Walk GP practice 
live within a one mile radius of the premises. This option would 
ensure those patients continue to have access to services within close 
proximity to their residence

■■ Patients will not have to register at another practice.

Annual cost

■■ Anticipated cost: £1.31m

■■ Anticipated saving: £0.27m



20 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Option 3 
Move walk-in to St Mary’s and 
move GP surgery to alternative 
NHS space in city centre
GP-led walk-in activity provided at St Mary’s Treatment Centre, 
and  GP practice delivered from void NHS space within the city (eg 
Somerstown Central) 

Issues

■■ Patients currently registered at Guildhall Walk GP surgery would need 
to travel to another location within the city centre to receive primary 
care services

■■ This may or may not be further for patients to travel (Somerstown 
Central is between ¼ - ½ mile from Guildhall Walk)

■■ Patients living on the west side of the city may find access to St Mary’s 
is more difficult than to the city centre.

Benefits

■■ Simpler urgent care system for patients to navigate and no confusion 
over which walk-in service to use

■■ This option would give all walk-in services access to diagnostics at St 
Mary’s, improving the quality of patient care

■■ Patients would no longer be re-directed to the other walk-in centre (or 
back to their GP) in the city as they had attended the ‘wrong’ centre

■■ The majority of patients registered at Guildhall Walk GP practice live 
within a one mile radius of the premises. This option would ensure 
those patients continue to have access to services within close 
proximity to their residence, albeit not at Guildhall Walk

■■ Patients will not have to register at another practice.

Annual cost

■■ Anticipated cost: £1.18m

■■ Anticipated saving: £0.39m



21Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Option 4 
Move walk-in to St Mary’s  
and close GP surgery

GP-led walk-in activity provided at St Mary’s Treatment Centre, 
and GP practice delivered from existing practices in the city 
(decommission Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre Practice)

Issues

■■ This option would limit the choice available for patients when choosing 
to register with a GP practice in Portsmouth

■■ This option may be unwelcome for vulnerable groups of patients who 
would need to register at another practice within the city, especially if 
they experience issues around anxiety or general distrust of healthcare 
providers

■■ This option may cause concern that patients may not easily be able to 
register with another practice

■■ Patients living on the west side of the city may find access to St Mary’s 
is more difficult than to the city centre.

Benefits

■■ Simpler urgent care system for patients to navigate and no confusion 
over which walk-in service to use

■■ This option would give all walk-in services access to diagnostics at  
St Mary’s, improving the quality of patient care

■■ Patients would no longer be re-directed to the other walk-in centre (or 
back to their GP) in the city as they had attended the ‘wrong’ centre

■■ This is in line with the CCG’s vision to support the development of 
larger, more sustainable practices.

Annual cost

■■ Anticipated cost: £1.22m

■■ Anticipated saving: £0.35m



22 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Section 4

Supporting 
information

How the two walk-in centres compare

St Mary’s Treatment Centre 
Based on 2014/15 data St Mary’s sees around 44,500 walk-in 
attendances a year (minor injuries and minor illnesses); around 31,000 
related to patients registered with Portsmouth GP practices, the rest 
registered with GP practices outside the city. Most (two thirds) 
attendances are for minor injuries.

The first map opposite indicates the 2014/15 activity for minor injuries 
linked to patients’ home post codes. It demonstrates that the activity 
is fairly evenly distributed throughout Portsea Island, but considerably 
fewer visits from patients who live closer to Queen Alexandra Hospital in 
the north of the city. It also shows that significant numbers of patients 
living on the western side of the island are currently accessing St Mary’s 
Treatment Centre to receive care for minor injuries.

The second map opposite provides the same information but for minor 
illness. This shows that fewer people to the west (albeit still notable 
numbers) access St Mary’s for this service, than for minor injuries.



23Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Activity for minor injuries linked  
to patients’ home post codes

Activity (Sum)

Low	 High

Activity for minor illness linked  
to patients’ home post codes

Activity (Sum)

Low	 High

SCW CSU BI & Analytics Report 1878 
Data Source: SUS PbR 
EM / Directly from Care UK 
©2015 HERE

SCW CSU BI & Analytics Report 1878 
Data Source: SUS PbR 
EM / Directly from Care UK 
©2015 HERE



24 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre 
Walk in activity

Based on data from 2014/15 (and excluding patients who are registered 
at Guildhall Walk), there are around 22,500 attendances at the walk-in 
centre each year. Around 12,500 of these attendances are for patients 
registered with another GP practice within Portsmouth, while around 
10,000 attendances are for patients registered with GP practices outside 
the city. All attendances are for minor illnesses, with approximately 40% 
occurring during core GP hours (08:00–18:30, Monday-Friday). 

The map below shows the 2014/15 activity for Guildhall Walk, linked 
to patients’ home post codes. It shows that most patients attending the 
walk-in service live within a mile of the facility.

The table on the next page shows the top 20 conditions reported by 
patients attending the walk-in centre. Many would be suitable for a 
nurse-led consultation, or could be managed by pharmacists, rather by 
a GP (with the associated extra cost for the NHS, and the use of such an 
expert, and relatively scarce, staff resource).

Activity for  Guildhall Walk, linked to 
patients’ home post codes

Activity (Sum)

Low	 High

SCW CSU BI & Analytics Report 1878 
Data Source: SUS PbR 

EM / Directly from Care UK 
©2015 HERE



25Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Condition Count Percentage
Upper respiratory tract infection 1,187 9%

Acute tonsillitis 713 5%

Skin/subcutaneous infections 695 5%

Lower respiratory tract infection 655 5%

Urinary tract infection 584 4%

Requests for medication 425 3%

Otitis media (middle ear infection) 383 3%

Sore throat 364 3%

Viral infection 318 2%

Cough 307 2%

Otitis externa (outer ear inflammation) 298 2%

Abdominal pain 236 2%

Acute conjunctivitis 219 2%

Cystitis 195 1%

Earache symptoms 188 1%

Advice about treatment given 172 1%

Rash/non-specific skin eruption 165 1%

Disorders of eye and adnexa 161 1%

Backache, unspecified 158 1%

Oral/salivary/jaw diseases 156 1%

Registered patients

In addition to the walk-in service, Guildhall Walk also provides primary 
medical care services to a registered list of circa 7,000 patients. It is the 
only surgery in Portsmouth which is contracted and funded to provide 
services between 08:00–20:00, 365 days of the year – those extended 
hours are possible because the centre is funded to run the walk-in 
service between those same hours each day. This is very convenient 
for registered patients but that does present an issue with regards to 
fairness, compared to the services available to the remaining 200,000  
registered patients in Portsmouth.

The registered list contains a large proportion of young adults (many 
of them university students), especially between the ages of 20–34, 
and relatively few patients aged over 50. The chart overleaf shows how 
significantly the age characteristics of the list differs from the city as a 
whole.

Top 20 conditions reported by patients 
attending the walk-in centre



26 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

The map below shows where patients registered at Guildhall Walk live. 
As would be expected the majority of patients live within a mile of the 
premises, although the vast majority of patients living near the healthcare 
centre are registered with other practices within the city – most patients 
living in Charles Dickens and St Thomas wards (where the practice is 
located) are registered with other practices.

0-
4

10
-1

4

20
-2

4

30
-3

4

40
-4

4

50
-5

4

60
-6

4

70
-7

4

80
-8

4

90
-8

4

5-
9

15
-1

9

25
-2

9

35
-3

9

45
-4

9

55
-5

9

64
-5

9

75
-4

9

85
-8

9

85
-9

0

CCG average
GWHC registered list

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%

Age distribution comparison: 
GWHC and CCG average

Population density, Guildhall Walk 
Healthcare registered patients 

as at April 2015

Crude rate of practice 
registrations per 1,000 of 
Portsmouth registered patients 
within an LSOA.

Source: Numbers of patients 
registered at a GP practice, 
Health & Social Care Information 
Centre

© Crown Copyright and 
database right 2015. Ordnance 
Survey 100019971.

Contains National Statistics data



27Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Section 5

The future of the  
GP practice

This section (5) is only relevant to those people who are registered 
as patients at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Introduction

NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is reviewing the 
future of NHS services currently provided at Guildhall Walk Healthcare 
Centre. That review includes not only the ‘walk-in’ minor illness service 
for people not registered as patients there, but also the future of the GP 
practice itself.

The contract for both of these services ends in 2016. The CCG does not 
have the option of simply letting those contracts continue – it is legally 
obliged to begin an open competition (called a procurement process) 
to allow other potential providers to bid to take the services over, and a 
failure to do that would be against the law.

Therefore, decisions must be made about the future of the GP practice 
where you, and approximately 7,000 other people, are registered.

Portland 
Terrace

M
illennium

 Prom
enade

M
ill

en
n

iu
m

 P
ro

m
en

ad
e

M
ill

en
ni

um
 P

ro
m

en
ad

e

M
illennium

 Prom
enade

T
H

E
 D

E
LL

CLARENDON RO

AD

EA
ST

ER
N

 V
IL

L
A

S
 R

O
A

D

ST
 H

EL
EN’S PARADE

ST HELEN’S P

A
RA

D
E

KIRKSTALL ROAD

FU
R

N
E

S
S

 R
O

A
D

KIR
KST

A

LL R
OAD

DUISBURG W
AY

CLARENCE PARADE

CLARENCE ROAD

GRANADA ROAD

MANSION  R
O

A
D

BE
M

BRID
GE CRESC

ENT 

A
LH

A
M

B
R

A
 R

O
A

D

BEACH ROAD

SOMERSET ROAD

B
U

R
G

O
Y

N
E

 R
O

A
D

OSBORNE ROAD

W
AV

ER
LE

Y 
RO

AD

WHITWELL ROAD

  LE
N

N
O

X
 R

O
A

D
 SO

U
TH

B
E

A
U

F
O

R
T

 R
O

A
D

ST CATHERINE STREET

K
EN

IL
W

O
RT

H
 R

O
A

D

C
H

EW
TE

R 
CL

O
SE

C
RA

N
ES

W
ATE

R A
V

EN
U

E

C
R

A
N

E
SW

A
T

E
R

 P
A

R
K

AUCKLAND ROAD EAST

O
N

S
LO

W
 R

O
A

D

EASTERN PARADE

NETTLECOMBE AVENUE

ST
 R

O
N

A
N

S 
R

O
A

D

MARION ROAD

F
E

S
T

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

ST SIMONS ROAD

B
R

U
C

E
 R

O
A

D

FL
O

R
E

N
C

E
 R

O
A

D

D
U

N
C

A
N

 R
O

A
D

W
O

RT
H

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

ST H
ELEN

’S C
LO

SE

M
A

PLE R
O

A
D

B
R

A
N

D
O

N
 R

O
A

D

TASWELL ROAD

TA
SW

EL
L 

RO
A

D

WAVERLEY GROVE

      C
LA

R
EN

C
E R

O
A

D

TH
E VA L E

W
EL

CH
 R

O
AD

V
IC

T
O

R
I A

 R
O

A
D

 N
O

R
T

H

V
I C

T
O

R
IA

 R
O

A
D

 S
O

U
T

H

V IC
TORIA

 R
O

A
D

 S
O

U
TH

WHITWELL ROAD

PARKST
ONE A

VENUE

VILLIERS ROAD

N
E

T
LE

Y
 R

O
A

D

HAM
ILTON ROAD

H
E

LE
N

A
 R

O
A

D

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
 P

LA
C

E

STANLEY LANE

LEN
N

O
X

 R
O

A
D

 N
O

RTH

OLD BRIDGE ROAD

CRANESWATER PA
RK

SALISBURY ROAD

SH
IR

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

HERBERT ROAD

FREESTONE ROAD

NETLEY TERRACE

N
A

P
IE

R
 R

O
A

D

WIMBLEDON PARK ROAD

FESTING GROVE

FO
N

T
W

E
LL

 R
O

A
D

CHESTER PLACE

STANLEY STREET

E
X

E
T

E
R

 R
O

A
D

P
A

L
M

E
R

S
T

O
N

 R
D

ALLEN’S ROAD

A
S

H
B

Y
 P

L
A

C
E

LO
W

CA
Y

 R
O

A
D

P
O

R
T

L
A

N
D

 R
O

A
D

C
L

I F
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

GAINS ROAD

E
LP

H
IN

ST
O

N
E

 R
O

A
D

A
S

H
B

U
R

T
O

N
 R

O
A

D

E
X

M
O

U
T

H
 R

O
A

D

M
A

RM
IO

N

 ROAD

MARMION ROAD

ST V IN CENT ROAD

S
H

A
F

T
E

S
B

U
R

Y
 R

O
A

D

N
IG

H
T

IN
G

A
L

E
 R

O
A

D

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
 R

O
A

D

SOUTHSEA TERRACE

W
E

S
T

E
R

N
 P

A
R

A
D

E

SERPENTIN
E R

O
A

D

      WISBOROUGH ROAD

W
IL

T
O

N
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

ST RONANS AVENUE

M
A

R
M

IO
N

 A
V

E
N

U
E

LO
NG CU

RTA

IN RO
AD

NELSON ROAD

NELSON ROAD

COLLINGWOOD ROAD

PI
ER

 R
O

A
D

A
N

D
O

V
E

R
 R

O
A

D

A
L BERT ROAD

ALBERT ROAD

WILTON PLACE

B
R

O
M

P
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

ST
 A

U
G

U
ST

IN
E

 R
O

A
D

H
E

N
LE

Y
 R

O
A

D

H
E

N
LE

Y 
ROAD

Q
U

E
E

N
’S

 G
R

O
V

E

T
O

N
B

R
ID

G
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

COLLINGWOOD ROAD

MERTON ROAD

L
A

W
R

E
N

C
E

 R
O

A
D

B
O

U
LT

O
N

 R
O

A
D

MERTON ROAD

O
X

F
O

R
D

 R
O

A
D

O
X

FO
R

D
 R

O
A

D

G
O

O
D

W
O

O
D

 R
O

A
D

O
R

M
S

B
Y

 R
O

A
D

A
L

B
AN

Y
 R

O
A

D

ALB AN
Y

 R
O

A
D

H
IL

LB
O

R
O

U
G

H
 C

R

A
LB

E
R

T
 G

R
O

V
E

SU
SS

E
X

 R
O

A
D

Q
U

EE
N

S 
C

RE
SC

ENT

QUEENS CRESCENT GRAHAM ROAD

K
IN

G
S 

TE
R

R
A

C
E

JU
B

I L
E

E
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

BELL
EVUE T

ERRACE

PI
ER

 R
O

A
D

NORMAN ROAD

T
R

E
V

O
R

 R
O

A
D

CAVENDISH ROAD

Q
U

E
E

N
S 

P
LA

C
E

CASTLE R
O

AD

C
A

ST
LE

 R
O

A
D

HE REFORD ROAD NORTHCOTE ROAD
SUSSEX ROAD

GARDEN LANE

FR
A

N
C

IS
 A

V
E

N
U

E

CECIL
 P

LACE

THE RETREAT

CECIL GROVE

REGENTS PL

W
O

O
D

P
A

T
H

FA
W

C
E

T
T

 R
O

A
D

STAFFORD ROAD

D
A

RTM
O

U
TH

 M
E

W
S

Y
A

R
B

O
R

O
U

G
H

 R
O

A
D

A LBA
N

Y
 R

O
A

D

THE THICKET

T
H

E
 T

H
IC

K
E

T

W
O

O
D

V
IL

L
E

 D
R

IV
E

W
O

O

DV I LLE DRIV
E

THE THICKET

H
A

R
O

L
D

 R
O

A
D

CHATHAM

 D
R

IV
E

W
IL

B
E

R
FO

R
C

E
 R

O
A

D

VICTORIA GROVE

VICTORIA AVENUE

A
LB

E
R

T
 G

R
O

V
E

CH
ATH

A
M

 D
R

STEEL STREET

ST
O

N
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

COPPER STREET

N
IC

K
E

L 
ST

HAMBROOK STREET

WORSLEY ROAD

KINGS ROAD

ELM GROVE

ELM GROVEELM STREET

G
R

E
A

T
 S

O
U

T
H

SE
A

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
E

N
D

Y
 C

LO
SE

CAMPBELL ROAD

CAMPBELL ROAD

OUTR
A

M
 R

O

AD

PEMBROKE CLOSE

ST GEORGE’S RO
AD

G
U

N
W

H
ARF ROAD

W
H

IT
E 

H
A

RT
 R

O
A

D

WHITE H
A

RT
 R

O
A

D

WILSON GROVE

PENNY STREET

CHAPEL ST INGLIS ROAD
DARLINGTON ROAD

CHETWYND ROAD

FAWCETT ROAD

PENNY STREET

ST
 P

ET
ER

’S
 G

RO
V

E

SLINGSBY CLOSE

FL
IN

T 
ST

R
EE

T

GOLD STREET

KENT ROAD

KENT ROAD

KENT ROAD

G
R

O
V

E
 R

O
A

D
 S

O
U

T
H

G
R

O
V

E
 R

O
A

D
 S

O
U

T
H

C
H

E
LS

EA
 R

O
A

D

WIL
SO

N
 G

R
O

V
E

G
RO

V
E 

RO
A

D
 N

O
RT

H

G
O

RDON RO
AD

PEMBROKE ROAD

PEM
BROKE ROAD

ST. URSULA GROVE

ST. E DWARDS ROAD

BUSH STREET EAST

PEACOCK LANE

PEACOCK LANE
CASTLE CLOSE

ST.
 N

IC
H

O
LA

S 
ST

REE
T

BUSH ST WEST
SILVER STREET

CAPTAINS ROW

LI
T

T
LE

 S
O

U
T

H
SE

A
 S

T

G
R

O
SV

EN
O

R
 STR

EET

GRE
EN

 R
O

AD

BELMONT PLACE

GLO
UC

ES
TE

R 
PL

AC
E

G
LO

U
CE

ST
ER

 T
ER

RA
CE

COTTAGE GROVE

M
ID

D
L

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T

EL
D

O
N

 S
TR

EE
T

N
O

RF
O

LK
 S

TR
EE

T

N
O

BBS LANE

ST
 THOM

AS’S
 ST

REET

ST THOMAS’S STREET

SO
U

TH
 S

TR
EE

T

 
ST PA

U
LS RO

A
D

GLOUCESTER VIEW

B
R

O
A

D
 STREET

BELMONT STREET

MUSEUM ROAD

ST
. 

A
N

D
R

E
W

S
 R

O
A

D

MARGATE ROAD

CH
IV

ER
S 

CL
O

SE
W

IN
D

SO
R 

LA
N

E

MEADOW ST

H
IG

H
BU

RY STREET

H
A

M
P

SH
IR

E
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

LA
N

D
PO

RT TERRA
CE

EAST STREET

YORKE STREET

HYDE 
ST

RE
ET

HUDSON ROAD

SO
M

ER
S R

OAD

SO
M

ER
S R

OAD

ST PAULS SQUARE

KING STREET

HIG
H S

TREET

HIGH STREET

BRO
A

D
 STREET

SE
AGER’S  COURT

TO
W

ER
 STR

EET

W
EST STREET

B
A

TH
 S

Q
U

A
R

E

BATH SQ

PAINS ROAD

ST
 J

A
M

ES
’S

 R
O

A
D

BROUGHAM ROAD

B
R

U
N

S
W

IC
K

 S
T

CAMBRIDGE R
OAD

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E 

R
O

A
D

LANDPORT STREET

A
S

T
L

E
Y

 S
T

R
E

E
T

PARK STREET

BRUNSWICK STREET

A
R

M
O

R
Y

 L
A

N
E

ST
 P

A
U

LS
 R

O
A

D

LA
N

D
SD

O
W

N
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

KING STREET

ST
 J

A
M

ES
’S

  R
O

A
D

C
O

L
P

O
Y

 S
T

R
E

E
T

PEEL PLACE

SACKVILLE STREET

ARM
ORY L

ANE 

ARM ORY L
A

N
E

CRABBE COURT
DUNSMORE CLOSE

E
A

R
L

S
D

O
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

W
A

R
W

IC
K

 C
R

ES
C

EN
T

WARWICK CRESCENT

PLAYFAIR ROAD

RADNOR STREET

B
E

E
H

IV
E

 W
A

LK

BEDFORD STREET

FRASER ROAD

SE
D

G
LE

Y
 C

LO
SE

RIVERS STREET

B
U

R
N

A
B

Y
 R

O
A

D
B

U
R

N
A

B
Y

 R
O

A
D

WILTSHIRE STREET

M
E

R
ID

E
N

 R
O

A
D

M
ELBOURNE PLACE

ST PA
U

LS
 R

O
A

D

WATERLOO STREETWILTSHIRE STREET

S
T

 G
E

O
R

G
E

’S
 R

O
A

D

LO
RD M

ONTGOMERY W
AY

H
A

M
PS

H
IR

E 
TE

RR
A

CE

W
A

LT
H

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

WELLINGTON STREET

ALFRED R
OAD

PLY
M

O
U

T
H

 ST
R

E
E

T

BLACKFRIARS CLOSE

ST
 V

IN
C

E
N

T
 S

TREET

Q
U

IN
T

O
N

 C

LOSE

WINSTON CHURCHILL AVENUE

KING RICHARD I ROAD

HYDE PARK ROA D

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L 
 R

O
A

D

B
LA

CK
FR

IARS ROAD

T
Y

S

ELE Y R O

A
D

PARK ROAD
ALEC  R O S E LA N

E

WHITE SWAN ROAD

E
X

C
H

A
N

G
E

 R
O

A
D

O

M
EGA

 S
TREE

T

PARK ROAD

SUN STREET

COLLEGE LANE

V
IC

T
O

R
Y

 R
O

A
D R

O
SE

M
A

R
Y

 LA
N

E
 

CHARLES DICKENS ST

BRITAIN  STR
EE

T

ST
 J

A
M

E
S’

S
 S

T

ST.  G
EORGE’S

 W
AY

GREETHAM STREET GREETHAM STREETCOLLEGE STREET 

H
A

W
K

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T
S

H
IP

 L
E

O
P

A
R

D
 S

T
R

E
E

T

B
U

TC
H

ER
 STR

EET

B
R

ID
PO

R
T STR

EET

B
E

N
E

F
IC

IA
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

KENT STREET

B
IS

H
O

P
 S

T
R

E
E

T DU
R

H
A

M
 STR

EE
T

A
Y

LW
A

R
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

U
PPER

 A
R

U
N

D
EL STR

EET

S
L

IN
D

O
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

RAILWAY VIEW

STATION STREET

OLD STAR PL

SURREY ST
R

E
E

T

BENBOW PLACE

W
IC

K
H

A
M

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
A

V
A

N
T

 S
T

R
E

E
T

C
R

O
S

S
 S

T
R

E
E

T

BO
NFIR

E C
ORNER

A
D

M
IR

A
LT

Y
 R

O
A

D

COLL
EGE ROAD

N
O

R
T

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

LA
N

D
P

O
R

T
 ST

R
E

E
T

Y
O

R
K

 P
L

A
C

E

B ISHOP CRISPIAN WAY

S
T

A
N

H
O

P
E

 R
O

A
D

B
U

R
IT

O
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

SP
IC

E R
 S

T
R

E
ET

PARA
D

IS
E

 S
T

R
EE

T

SETTLERS CLOSEB
U

C
K

IN
G

HAM STREET

KING WILLIAM S TREET

COMMERCIA L PLACE

T
E

M
P

LE
 S

T
R

E
E

T

CRASSWELL STREET

JA
C

O
B

S
 S

T
R

E
E

TU
N

IC
O

R
N

 RO
A

D

CUMBERLAND STREET

CHARLOTTE STREET

APRIL SQUARE

LA
N

D
P

O
R

T
 V

IE
W

CASCADES A
PPRO

ACH

U
N

ICO
RN

 RO
A

D

APRIL SQUARE

A
P

R
IL

 S
Q

U
A

R
E

S
T. FA

IT
H

’S
 R

O
A

D

P
Y

E
 S

T
R

E
E

T

PAN ST

L AKE ROAD

HOPE S
TREET

H
O

PE
 S

TREET

C
L

A
R

E
N

C
E

 S
T

R
E

E
T

ST
A

U
N

TO
N

 S
TREET

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L 
R

D

FR
E

D
E

R
IC

K
 S

T

ANDREW BELL ST

COR NWALLIS  CRESCENT

C

H U R CH STREET

NORTH STREET

ALL SAINTS STREET

FITZHERBERT STREET

VICTORIA STREET

O
L

D
  C

O
M

M
E

R
C

IA
L

 R
O

A
D

QUEEN STREET

QUEEN STREET

 
Q

UEEN STREET

TH
E H

A
RD

THE HARD

ST THOMAS’S STREET

O
Y

S
T

E
R

 S
T

R
E

E
T

A
LE

X
A

N
D

R
A

 R
O

A
D

C
H

A
R

L
E

S
 S

T
R

E
E

T

G
R

A
N

D
 PA

R
A

D
E

P
E

LH
A

M
 R

O
A

D

N
A

P
IE

R
 R

O
A

D

W
IS

H
 P

L
A

C
E

W
A

V
ER

LE
Y

 R
O

A
D

B
E

A
T

R
IC

E
 R

O
A

D

LE
O

P
O

LD
 S

T
R

E
E

T

WYNDCLIFFE ROAD

ALBERT ROAD

THE LA NE

CLA
REN

CE ESPLA
N

A
D

E 

CLARENCE PARADE

N
E

T
LE

Y
 R

O
A

D

AUCKLAND ROAD WEST

OSBORNE ROAD

CLARENDON ROAD

CLARENDON ROAD

CLARENDON ROAD

LOWCAY ROAD

WIMBLEDON PARK ROAD

ST RONANS ROAD

CR
A

N
ES

W
A

TE
R

 A
V

EN
U

E

F
E

S
T

IN
G

 R
O

A
D

DORRITA
 C

L
O

S
E

M
A

LV
E

R
N

 R
O

A
D

M
A

LV
E

R
N

 R
O

A
D

C
L

A
R

E
N

C
E

 R
O

A
D F

L
O

R
E

N
C

E
 R

O
A

D

CLARENDON ROA

D

W
A

V
ER

LE
Y 

RO
AD

ST RONANS RO
A

D

CLA
REN

D
O

N
 R

O
A

D

B
EM

B
R

ID
G

E 
C

R
ES

C
EN

T 

GRANADA ROADCLARENCE ESPLANADE

A
V

E
N

U
E

 D
E

 C
A

E
N

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

CLARENCE ESPLANADE

S
E

R
P

E
N

T
IN

E
 R

O
A

D

BECK STREET

LI
O

N
 T

E
R

R
A

C
E

WILLIS RO
A

D

YAPTON STREET
LOWER CHURCH PATH

T
H

R
E

E
 T U N  CLO

SE

ST
 M

IC
H

A
E

L’
S

 R
O

A
D

K ING HENRY I  STREET

G
U

IL
D

H
A

LL
 W

A
LK

DOROTHY DYMOND ST 

ALEC R OS E LANE

T
H

E
 M

A
R

Y
 R

O
SE

 ST
 

I SAMBARD BRUNEL ROAD

ISA
M

B
A

R
D

 B
R

U
N

E
L R

O
A

D

G
R

E
Y

’S
 

COURT

WINSTON CHURCHILL AVE

FELTHAM ROW

WARBLIN
GTON ST

REE
T

KING CHARLES STREET

M
IL

VE
RT

O
N

 C
LO

SE

W
IN

G
FI

E
LD

 S
T

R
E

E
T

B
R

O
W

N
L

O
W

 C
LO

SE

N
E

LS
O

N
 R

O
A

D

F
L

A
T

H
O

U
S

E
 R

O
A

D

M
IL

E
 E

N
D

 R
O

A
D

ANGERSTEIN ROAD

C
A

R
D

IF
F

 R
O

A
D

KNOX ROAD

ST MARKS ROAD

KNOX ROAD

M
O

N
M

O
U

T
H

 R
O

A
D

RANELAGH ROAD

LOWER DERBY ROAD

DERBY ROAD

LOWER DERBY ROAD

PITCROFT ROAD

G
R

A
N

G
E

 R
O

A
D

SEAGROVE ROAD

BEVIS ROA D

B
E

V
IS

 R
D

 N
O

R
T

H

STANLEY ROAD

M
IL

L
S

 R
O

A
D

S IMPSON ROAD

L
O

N
D

O
N

 R
O

A
D

PRINCE’S STREET

C
A

IR
O

 T
E

R
R

A
C

E

BAYTHORN CLOSE

G
A

M
B

L
E

 R
O

A
D

M
A

L
IN

S
 R

O
A

D

M
A

LI
N

S
 R

O
A

D

MALTHOUSE ROAD

CLYDEBANK ROAD

STIRLING STREET

ST
E

E
R

FO
R

T
H

 C
LO

SE

STEERFORTH CL

S
P

E
N

L
O

W
 C

LO
S

E

HAVISH

AM
 RD

D
IC

K
E

N
S

 C
L

O
S

E

SPENLOW CLOSE

C
R

E
S

S
Y

 R
O

A
D

SULTAN ROAD

SULTAN ROAD

G
RA

FT
O

N S

TREET

E
ST

E
LL

A
 R

O
A

D

GARFIELD ROAD

C
E

N
T

A
U

R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

N
E

S
S

U
S

 S
T

R
E

E
T

EMANUEL STREET

A
G

IN
C

O
U

R
T

 R
O

A
D

M
A

IT
LA

N
D

 S
T

R
E

E
T

TURNER ROAD

W
A

TT
S 

R
O

A
D

DUKE CRESCENT

M
IL

E
 E

N
D

 R
O

A
D

M
ILE END RO

AD

WHARF ROAD

W
HALE ISLA

N
D

 W
A

Y

PROSPECT ROAD

HERBERT STREET

KINGSTON CRESCENT

KINGSTON CRESCE N T

T
W

Y
F

O
R

D
 A

V
E

N
U

E

ST
A

M
SH

A
W

 R
O

A
D

H
E

R
C

U
L

E
S

 S
T

R
E

E
T

LO
M

BA
RD

 STREET

BLOUN
T

 R
O

A
D

BLOUNT R
O

A
D

ST
 A

N
D

R
E

W
S 

R
O

A
D

ST
 D

A
V

ID
S 

R
O

A
D

O
U

T
R

A
M

 R
O

A
D

HAVELOCK ROAD

STANSTED ROAD

H
A

R
R

O
W

 R
O

A
D

B
R

IT
A

N
N

IA
 R

O
A

D

B
R

IT
A

N
N

IA
 R

D
 N

O
R

T
H

E
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

LAWSON ROAD

CLEVELAND ROAD

LIVINGSTONE ROAD ADDISON ROAD

HOLLAND ROAD

PERCY ROAD

JESSIE ROAD

JESSIE ROAD

BRAMBLE ROAD
TA

LB
O

T
 R

O
A

D

SU
T

H
E

R
LA

N
D

 R
O

A
D

LO
N

D
E

SB
O

R
O

U
G

H
 R

O
A

D

E
SS

LE
M

O
N

T
 R

O
A

D

FR
A

N
C

IS
 A

V
E

N
U

E

JU
B

IL
E

E
 R

O
A

D

TA
LB

O
T

 R
O

A
D

L
A

W
R

E
N

C
E

 R
O

A
D

FA
W

C
E

T
T

 R
O

A
D

FA
W

C
E

T
T

 R
O

A
D

L
O

R
N

E
 R

O
A

D

STANSTED ROAD

BAILEYS ROAD

MONTGOMERIE ROAD

LOWER FORBURY RD

SO
M

ER
S 

RO
A

D

RAGLAN STREET

PORT ROYAL STREET

H
A

N
O

V
E

R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

ARUNDEL STREET
ARUNDEL STREET

M
ILFO

R
D

 R
O

A
D

HIGHFIELD ROAD H
IG

H
FIELD

 R
O

A
D

G
LI

D

DEN CLOSE

CANAL WALK

CANAL WALK

C
O

T
TA

G
E

 V
IE

W

N
O

R
T

H
A

M
 ST

R
E

E
T

M

ARKETW
AY

TOBY ST

E
D

E
N

 S
T CHURCH ROAD

CENTRAL STREET

FYNING STREET

D
R

U
M

M
O

N
D

 R
O

A
D

H
O

LB
R

O
O

K
 R

O
A

D
U

N
IO

N
 P

LA
C

E

H
A

LE
 ST

R
E

E
T

 SO
U

T
H

ELIZABETH GARDENS

C
O

U
S

IN
S

 G
R

O
V

E

B
U

R
B

ID
G

E
 G

R
O

V
E

B
R

A
D

IN
G

 A
V

E
N

U
E

FESTING GROVE

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
O

A
D

K
IM

B
E

R
L E

Y
 R

O
A

D

W
IN

T
E

R
 R

O
A

D

C
LE

G
G

 R
O

A
D

H
E

L
LY

E
R

 R
O

A
D

OLIVER ROAD

TOWER ROAD

ST
 A

LB
A

N
’S

 R
D

ST ANN’S ROAD

HUNTER ROAD

HUNTER ROAD

TREDEGAR ROAD

CANTERBURY ROAD

MAXWELL ROAD

WHEATSTONE ROAD

EDMUND ROAD

FA
W

C
E

T
T

 R
O

A
D

DELAMERE ROAD

SP
E

N
C

E
R

 R
O

A
D

L ION STREET

RICHMOND PL

PORTLAND STREET
DUGALD DRUMMOND STREET

N
E

S
S

U
S  S T R EET

WINGFIELD STREET

MILL LN

ALL SAINTS RD

LO
W

ER
 W

IN
D

FI
EL

D
 S

T

B
A

K
E

R
 S

T
R

E
E

T

MARKETWAY

CHURCH STREET
LAKE R

OAD

UNION STREET

SO
U

TH
A

M
PTO

N
 R

O
W

K
IN

G
S B

EN
C

H
 A

LLEY

C
U

R
Z

O
N

 H
O

W
E

 R
O

A
D

ST GEORGE’S SQUARE

SP
R

IN
G

 S
T

R
E

E
T

FO
U

N
TA

IN
 S

T

EAST SURREY STREET

C
LA

X
TO

N
 ST

FO
R

B
U

RY
 R

O
A

D

CR
O

SS
 S

T

OCKENDON CLOSE

CRO
X

TO
N

 RD

SU
SSEX TERRACE

SUSSEXPLACE

QUEENS
WAY

H
A

SL
E

M
E

R
E

 R
O

A
D

HIGHLAND ROAD

HIGHLAND ROAD

ESPLANADE

ESPLANADE

ESPLANADE

SOUTH PARADE

P
A

LM
E

R
ST

O
N

 R
O

A
D

BATHING LN

MARGERY’S

COURT

CHURCH PATH

NORTH

CO
M

M
ERCIA

L 
R O

A
D

CLA
REN

DON

M
EW

S

WEST ST

B
A

T
H

 R
O

A
D

HIGHLAND TERRACE

CO
RNM

ILL ST

LAKE ROAD

HALE S
T N

FO
STER RO

A
D

NORTH STREET

CLOCK STREET

A
N

G
L

E
S

E
A

 R
O

A
D

V ICT ORI A
 R

O
A

D
 N

O
R

T
H

EDINBURGH ROAD

C
O

M
M

E
R

C
IA

L 
R

O
A

D

PRINCE GEORGE STREET

ORDNANCE ROW

H
IG

H
BU

RY STREET

PENNY ST
REET

HALFPENNY LN

COTTAGE GROVE

FARTHIN
G L

ANE
FR

A
N

C
IS

 A
V

E
N

U
E

EDMUND ROAD

WHEATSTONE ROAD

FR
EN

C
H

 ST

OYSTER  

M
EW

S

ROSTREVOR LANE

P
E

R
C

Y
 C

H
A

N
D

L
E

R
 S

T

BREW
ER ST

G
R

E
N

V
IL

L
E

 R
O

A
D

N
O

R
L

A
N

D
 R

O
A

D

HEYWARD ROAD

S
H

A
N

K
L

IN
 R

D

MANNERS LANE

V
E

N
T

N
O

R
 R

D

ST

GEORGE’S

SQUARE

JOSEPH NYE
COURT

TOWER

ALLEY

CRANESWATER PARK

CRANESWATER PARK

JA
C

K
 C

O
C

K
E

R
IL

L 
W

A
Y

G
R

A
FT

O
N

 S
T

R
E

E
T

CRANESWATER

GATE

PRIN
CESS ROYAL WAY

Isle of Wight Car Ferry

Isl
e 

of
 W

ig
ht

 C
at

am
ar

an
 (P

as
se

ng
er

)

Gosport Passenger Ferry

Isle of W
ight Hovercra

ft

Portsmouth International Ferry

T
H

E CIRCLE

GUILDHALL SQUARE

Harbour 
Tours 

Harbour 
Tours 

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps
steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

steps

slope

ramp

ramp

ramp

ramp

ramp

ramp

ramp

ramp

ramp

ramp

ramp
ramp

ramp

ramp
ramp

slope
slope

slope

slope
footbridge

underpass

underpass

underpass

underpass

underpass

underpass

underpass

underpass

underpass

covered 
walkway

covered 
walkway

Charter 
Academy

Cottage Grove 
Primary School

St John’s 
College

Southsea 
Infant School

Craneswater Junior School

Mayville 
High School

Portsmouth 
High School

The Portsmouth 
Grammar School

The Portsmouth 
Grammar School

St Jude’s 
Nursery 
School

Portsmouth 
High School

Portsmouth 
High School

St George’s
Beneficial C of E
Primary School

Flying Bull 
Primary School
Flying Bull 
Primary School

Charles Dickens Infant 
and Junior School

Arundel Court 
Primary School

St John’s 
Catholic Primary 
School

St Edmunds 
Catholic School

Somers Park 
Primary School

Portsmouth 
Language 

Centre

St Swithun’s 
Catholic Primary 
School

Royal 
Maritime
Club

Holiday Inn 
Express

Holiday Inn

Premier Inn 
Southsea

The Church of Jesus Christ 
of Latter-Day Saints

All Saints Church

Salvation 
Army Church

The Painters 
Arms

St Faith’s
Church

Kingdom Hall of Jehovah’s 
Witnesses

St Luke’s 
Church 

Portsmouth 
Jami Mosque

Immanuel 
Baptist Church

St Peter’s 
Church

Guru Nanak 
Sar Gurdwara

The 
Kings 

Centre

Portsmouth 
and Southsea 
Synagogue

Temple of 
Spiritualism

St Jude’s 
Church

St 
Swithun’s 

Church

St Simon’s 
Church

St Agatha’s TrustSt Agatha’s Trust

John Pounds 
Memorial 
Church

St George’s 
Church

St Agatha’s
Church

St Margaret’s 
Church

Trinity 
Methodist 

Church

Southsea 
Library

The Norrish 
Central Library & 
History Centre

Police Station

Police 
Station

Post 
Office

Buckland 
Community
Centre

Buckland 
Adventure 
Playground

Buckland Sure 
Start Centre

Landport
Community
Centre

Youth 
Club

The Robert’s 
Centre

Royal Naval 
Comrades Club

Southsea 
Community 

Centre

The 
Brook 
Club

Southsea 
Scout Centre

Omega Centre
Somerstown 
Sure Start 
Centre

Royal 
Naval Club

Portsea Sure 
Start Centre

Courts of 
Justice

Magistrates Court

Civic
Offices

Southsea 
Fire Station

Lifeguard 
station

Art Space 
Portsmouth

Aspex Gallery

Hiscock 
Gallery

New 
Theatre 
Royal

The 
Wedgewood 

Rooms

Nightclub

No6 
Cinema

Cinema

Action 
Stations 

Ticket 
Office 

Dockyard 
Apprentice

Monitor 33

St Jude’s C of E 
Primary School

Portsmouth 
Cenotaph

Queen Victoria
Statue

Trafalgar 
Monument monument

monument

bandstand

The Ship 
& Castle

Tesco
Express

The Royal

The Mars

AbarBistro

The
Wellington

Beckett’s 
Wine Bar

Shorties

The White
Horse

The Hole in 
the Wall

The Eldon 
Arms

King Street 
Tavern

The 
Lawrence 

Arms

The 
Fawcett Inn

The Florence 
Arms

Restaurant 27

The 
Phoenix

Apsley House

The Auckland

The Spice 
Island Inn

The Still 
and West

Lord 
Palmerston

Seafront
Office

Mozzarella 
Joe’s

Rocksbys 
Restaurant 
& Cafe

Victoria and 
Albert

Little Johnny 
Russells

Ashbys

The 
Festing

Oasis
News

Kitsch ‘n d’or

Portsmouth Cycle 
Exchange

Debenhams

Knight 
& Lee

Waitrose

Victoriana

Sainsbury’s

Morrisons

Tesco

H&M

Next
M&S

BHS

Boots

Dreams

Haslemere 
Cycles

Buckingham 
Building

Portsmouth Indoor 
Tennis Centre

Lion Gate 
Building

Burnaby
Terrace

William Beatty
Building (Dental 
Academy)

Anglesea
Building

St Michael’s
Building

St Andrew’s
Court

University
House

Rees
Hall

Purple
Door

Portland
Building
Portland
Building

Milldam
Building

Burnaby
Building

King
Henry
Building

Park
Building

Eldon
Building

Dennis
Sciama
Building

Spinnaker 
Building

Register 
Office

Richmond 
Building

Isle of Wight 
Car Ferry Terminal

Gosport Ferry

Isle of Wight Catamaran
(Passenger)

Wightlink
Ticket Office

Pembroke Gardens 
Bowling Green

Long Curtain 
Moat

playground

Wimbledon 
Park Sports 

Centre

splash pool

playground

model village

Rose Garden

sports ground

Rock Gardens

splash 
pool

beach 
volleyball

Royal Navy 
Burnaby Road West 

Sports Ground

Royal Navy 
Burnaby Road East 

Sports Ground

Somerstown 
Adventure 
Playground

adventure 
playground

Ball Courts

Arundel Street 
Gardens

The Dell

minigolf

Nuffield
Centre

Halpern
House

Japanese 
Garden

Basketball 
Court

Tennis 
Courts

Victoria Park

Ravelin Park

Southsea Common

Southsea Common

Highland Road
Cemetery

Naval Sports Ground

Buckland Park

Southsea Tennis Club

Castle Field

Wimbledon 
Park and 

Playground

Waverley 
Gardens

Clarendon 
Gardens

Burgoyne 
Gardens

cemetery

NHS
Inscape

Southsea 
Skatepark

Crazy Golf 

Funfair

Amusement 
Park

Amusement 
Arcade

Cascades Shopping Centre

The Hard
Interchange

Antiques 
Storehouse

Portsmouth 
and Southsea

Portsmouth 
Harbour

Royal Navy 
Burnaby Road West 

Sports Ground

Royal Navy 
Burnaby Road East 

Sports Ground

Southsea 
Rowing Club

playground

boat yard

SOUTHSEA 
SEAFRONT

SOUTHSEA 
TOWN CENTRE

HISTORIC 
DOCKYARD

EASTNEY

CITY CENTRE

OLD 
PORTSMOUTH

GUNWHARF 
QUAYS

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating
seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

seating

cycle dock

access to catamaran 
via station

HM
Naval Base

HM
Naval Base

HM
Naval Base

Whale Island

Unicorn 
Gate

Trafalgar 
Gate

Coaches

Admiral
Drake Pub Travelodge

Students’ 
Union

Ibis

The Red 
White & Blue

The Golden 
Eagle

The Barley 
Mow

Duke of 
Buckingham 

The Dolphin

The Bridge 
Tavern

The Northcote 
Hotel 

The Queen’s 
HotelIsle of Wight 

Hovercraft Terminal

Ocean Hotel

Royal Beach 
Hotel

Jolly Sailor

Monks

Sally Port Inn

The
Pembroke

Hampshire 
Boulevard

The 
Invincible

The Ship 
Anson

Rock and 
Sole

The Italian 
Bar & Grill

JOHN POUNDS CENTRE

SOMERSTOWN CENTRAL

GUILDHALL WALK
HEALTHCARE CENTRE

CITY CENTRE

OLD PORTSMOUTH

This historic centre is home to 
cobbled streets, old pubs and 
cafés. It is also the best place to 
view the harbour and the many 
ships travelling to Portsmouth.

Albert Road

Portsmouth’s 
alternative city centre 
with independent bars 
and cafés.

SOUTHSEA TOWN CENTRE

A great mix of department 
stores, independent retailers, 
restaurants and cafés.

Emirates Spinnaker 

170m tall world class 
visitor attraction with 
panoramic views of 
Portsmouth Harbour.

GUNWHARF QUAYS

Retail and leisure development 
with designer outlet shopping, 
waterfront bars, restaurants, 
cinema and marina.

HMS Victory

HMS Victory was Lord 
Nelson’s flagship at the Battle 
of Trafalgar.  Now it is a 
museum and Flagship of the 
First Sea Lord.

Historic Dockyard

Discover 800 years of naval 
history including HMS Victory, 
HMS Warrior, Mary Rose 
Museum and National 
Museum of the Royal Navy.

South Parade Pier

SOUTHSEA SEAFRONT

Steeped in maritime history, 
there’s so much to see, with 
the common, beach, piers and 
a wide range of attractions 
for all the family.

Ferries to France, Spain and the 
Channel Islands.
International Cruise Terminal 
and Commercial Port.

Portsmouth International Port

Mary Rose Museum

HMS Warrior 1860

At Portsmouth Historic 
Dockyard you can experience 
the life of a Victorian sailor 
on Britain’s first iron-clad 
armoured warship.

Kings Theatre

Blue Reef Aquarium

Royal Garrison Church

The Pyramids Centre

Southsea Castle

Built by Henry VIII to protect 
Portsmouth from invaders 
and now open to the public 
to enjoy the brilliant views 
of the Solent.

The D-Day Museum is Britain’s only 
museum dedicated to the D-Day 
landings, the greatest seaborne 
landing ever made, and is home
to the Overlord Embroidery.

D-Day Museum
+  Portsmouth Visitor Information

Natural History Museum
at Cumberland House

Cathedral of St Thomas

University Library

Clarence Pier

Charles Dickens 
Birthplace Museum

Portsmouth Museum

Square Tower

The Square Tower hosts 
events all year round, 
including specialist 
markets, plays and 
weddings.

Round Tower

The Round Tower was the 
first permanent fortification 
for Portsmouth which is now 
used to hold temporary art 
exhibitions.

Canoe Lake

The Naval War Memorial

Guildhall

National Museum
of the Royal Navy



28 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Background

In 2009 Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre was opened. It was a ‘Darzi 
centre’ – part of a national drive to open up ‘walk-in’ centres for people 
who were not registered with a GP practice of their own.

In Portsmouth, this walk-in centre was also combined with a GP practice, 
which was given extra freedoms to be able to register patients from 
across the local region – not just the immediate surrounding area. The 
company running the practice was also contracted to offer ‘open access’, 
so that registered patients did not always have to book appointments 
in advance, but could simply turn up and wait to see a GP if that suited 
them better.

Given all of these differences, the funding for the healthcare centre has 
always been different from other GP practices in the city. Essentially 
the local NHS gives the company which runs the practice more money, 
per patient, than it gives to any of the other city surgeries to reflect the 
different services it has to provide – most notably that it must provide a 
walk-in service from 8am-8pm every day.

The result is that the 7,000 patients at the Guildhall Walk GP practice 
enjoy far better access to GPs and nurses than can be provided by all 
other practices for the other 200,000+ city residents. That means that 
the registered patients at Guildhall Walk get a very convenient service, 
but this comes at a cost to the wider local NHS, which funds the 
enhanced service.

The healthcare centre is also specifically funded by the local NHS to provide 
a dedicated service for some vulnerable groups of patients, such as 
people who are homeless, or who have problems with drugs or alcohol.

Reasons for change

As explained on page 27, the CCG cannot simply leave the contracts for 
health services at Guildhall Walk in place – that is not legally possible.

So, the end of those contracts gives the local NHS an opportunity to see 
whether improvements can be made to services, and whether resources 
can be used more effectively. When making decisions about the future of 
the GP practice at Guildhall Walk, the NHS must consider the following:

Seven-day access for all: there is a national drive to move primary care 
services (although not necessarily every individual GP surgery) towards a 
seven-day service. That will take a great deal of resources – both in terms 
of money, and skilled workforce – and the CCG will need to make the 
resources available in the city go far further than is the case now if this 
ambition is to be achieved.

Fairness: the CCG acts on behalf of everyone in the city, and must give 
everyone equal opportunity to access the NHS services that we all pay 
for. The NHS, with its limited resources, cannot justify a situation where 
it is using its overstretched budgets to fund one group of people to get 
better access to treatment than others.



29Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Effective use of public money: The NHS, like all parts of the public 
sector, has a duty to use its resources as effectively as possible, for the 
benefit of all local residents. Currently, the NHS is paying rent to the 
private sector owners of the Guildhall Walk site – at a time when there 
are significant amounts of empty space in centrally-located buildings 
which are already being paid for by the local health service. The starting 
assumption must be that such a situation should only carry on if there are 
overriding reasons to do so. 

Strategic direction: It is widely accepted both locally and nationally 
that primary care services in the future must be delivered at a larger scale 
than has traditionally been the case in the past. The shortage of new 
doctors choosing General Practice as a career, the shift of services out of 
big hospitals and into the community, the need to join together primary 
care with community teams, the expectation of seven-day opening – all 
of these factors combine to suggest that practices will need to work 
together to provide a larger-scale service to their patients.

Preferred option

The CCG has already been asking for views about the future of the GP 
practice at Guildhall Walk. A series of conversations has been held with 
local clinicians, and also with key organisations such as the University of 
Portsmouth, Portsmouth City Council, and the Salvation Army.

Over the summer a questionnaire was also sent to people registered at 
the practice to get an initial sense of what was most important to them 
about their GP service, and what they would want from any future service.

The feedback from these sources, regarding the future of the GP 
practice, highlighted several distinct themes:

■■ A concern for the future of services for vulnerable groups

■■ Questions regarding the impact on students, especially those living in 
the city centre

■■ A real appreciation of the longer opening hours, and the ‘open’ access 
which allows registered patients to walk in and wait, rather than 
having to book an appointment in advance

■■ Concerns over whether a practice in an alternative location would be 
accessible to people living near the city centre.

The feedback from local GPs suggested that there may be sufficient 
capacity to simply end the contract for the GP practice at Guildhall Walk, 
and allow the 7,000 patients to register elsewhere – some practices 
suggested they could take on significant numbers of new patients, 
others said that they could not register any more. However, there were 
also widespread concerns amongst the profession regarding the capacity 
of GP services, both now and especially in the future.

That feedback was then considered alongside the CCG’s four 
considerations outlined above (seven-day access, fairness, use of public 
money, and strategic direction).



30 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

As a result of all of these factors the CCG produced a preferred option, 
and this document is asking for your feedback before any final decision  
is made. 

The preferred option is:

Registered patients would still all have their own, dedicated 
practice but it would no longer be at Guildhall Walk – instead 
patients would be registered at a new practice, in a building 
already funded by the NHS and near the city centre. The most 
likely options are the new Somerstown Central, or the John 
Pounds Centre. All patients, of course, would still retain the right 
to register at another practice if they wished to do so.

It is important to note that the option of simply letting the contract for the 
GP practice end, without a replacement, is no longer being considered. 
This is in response to the feedback received – partly because of concerns 
over the amount of primary care capacity there is in the city (and, indeed, 
the city centre), and partly because of concerns that such a decision 
could cause real upheaval as 7,000 people all sought to find a new 
practice at the same time.

Patients should also note, however, that the preferred approach does 
not propose a practice which would have the same 8am–8pm opening 
hours as Guildhall Walk does at present, for some of the reasons outlined 
earlier in this document – notably, the need to give all residents across 
the city an equal service, the need to use scarce funding carefully, and 
the need to devote all possible resources to extending GP access to 
everyone in the city, not just a small number. The CCG would, however, 
seek to agree a new contract which offered some extended opening 
hours to registered patients, recognising that one of the reasons that 
people chose to be patients at Guildhall Walk in the first place was the 
availability of evening and weekend appointments.

The CCG is now keen to hear the views of registered patients about 
the service that a new practice should offer – in terms of the way that 
appointments are made available, the opening hours, and where it 
should be located. We would also like to give people another chance to 
raise any issues they feel are important, to ensure that every issue has 
been considered, before decisions are taken.



31Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Section 6

Summary, and how 
you get involved

Summary

This document has set out how, in the last 10 years, the system of 
urgent care in Portsmouth has become significantly more complicated 
as the number of available choices has expanded rapidly – but how this 
expansion of choice has not succeeded in reducing pressure on A&E, or 
on GPs, and how services have become increasingly fragmented and hard 
to understand.

It has also explained how the contracts for both the walk-in service, 
and the GP practice, at Guildhall Walk run out in 2016, and that these 
contracts cannot just be allowed to keep running past that date. The 
NHS, in other words, is obliged to look again at how urgent care services 
work in the city, and to look for ways of securing better care for city 
residents.

The local NHS has already been involved in extensive discussions with 
local clinicians, and has been gathering the views of local people over an 
18-month period. The feedback received during that period, allied to the 
‘big picture’ priorities of the local NHS to create much stronger centres 
for community-based care in the future, has led to the identification of a 
preferred option for the way ahead: the relocation of the walk-in service 
from Guildhall Walk to St Mary’s, creating a combined, enhanced walk-in 
centre giving residents a better, simpler, more efficient service.

Getting involved

NHS Portsmouth CCG wants to hear from anyone who feels they 
would like to contribute to this process. To that end, the CCG is now 
conducting a formal public consultation process, and inviting people to 
submit their views on the preferred option for improving walk-in services 
in the city. You can find a pull-out response form in the centre pages of 
this document.

(As stated earlier in the document, there is a separate set of questions 
specifically aimed at the people who are registered patients at the 
Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre, regarding their views about 
a proposal to set up a new GP practice for them in nearby NHS 
premises. Similarly, there is another, separate process regarding the 
vulnerable groups – especially those who are homeless, or who 
misuse drugs or alcohol – who are registered at Guildhall Walk).

The CCG would particularly like to know if there are any issues, which 
have not yet been considered, which you feel should have an influence 
on the decision which must ultimately be made regarding walk-in 
services.



32 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

The CCG would also like to know which aspects of the preferred option 
for walk-in services, as set out in this document, you believe will help 
to improve services in the city, and which aspects you believe will have 
a negative impact. This feedback will help to ensure that any and all 
important factors are considered before a decision is made. 

We are asking you to respond to the four questions below and these 
are included in the pull-out response form in the centre pages of this 
document.

> Question 1:
The CCG’s preferred option for urgent care is to move the walk-in 
service from Guildhall Walk to create a combined, enhanced walk-in 
centre at St Mary’s. What do you think are the potential benefits of 
such a decision?

> Question 2:
The CCG’s preferred option for urgent care is to move the walk-
in service from Guildhall Walk to create a combined, enhanced 
walk-in centre at St Mary’s. What do you think are the potential 
disadvantages of such a decision?

> Question 3:
What do you think are the most important factors for the CCG to 
consider when deciding whether to create a single, combined walk-in 
service at St Mary’s Treatment Centre?

> Question 4:
Are there any other factors, not considered in the consultation 
document, which you think must be considered by the CCG before 
any decision is made?

In addition we are asking patients currently registered with the GP 
practice at Guildhall Walk a series of questions. These can also be found 
in the pull-out section in the centre pages of this document.

If you would like to comment on the proposals in this document please 
do so:

■■ Online at www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk

■■ By completing the form in the centre pages of this document and 
sending it to us at: Freepost NHS PORTSMOUTH (You do not need 
to add any other address details (road, town, postcode) as these are 
not required.) 

Either way, please ensure we have your completed responses by Friday 
19th February 2016.



33Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Glossary

A&E 
Accident and Emergency Department, often referred to now as the 
Emergency Department or ED

A&E Four Hour Target 
A nationally set target requiring 95% patients attending an A&E department 
to be seen, treated, admitted or discharged in under four hours.

CCG 
Clinical Commissioning Group or CCG – the NHS organisation led by 
GPs which is responsible for identifying and securing most of the health 
services for a particular area. Locally, NHS Portsmouth CCG is responsible 
for deciding what services their local residents need, including those 
relating to urgent care, from the NHS and plans and buys these services 
with public money from the most appropriate providers. 

Clinician 
General term used to describe someone who is qualified to provide 
healthcare and treatment to patients, such as a doctor, nurse, therapist 
or psychiatrist.

Commissioning 
Identifying the health needs of local people and planning and purchasing 
health services which respond to these needs

Community services/community-based care 
Health services delivered in the community in people’s homes or care homes

Darzi Centre 
Term used to describe walk-in centres such as Guildhall Walk which were 
set up as a result of plans put forward by Lord Darzi in his Next Stage 
Review of the NHS (2008).

Diagnostics 
Tests including scans and X rays that are used by clinicians to help 
understand an illness or the extent of an injury.

ED 
Emergency Department (see A&E above)

Governing Board/Governing Body 
All CCGs are required to have a Governing Body and locally we refer to 
ours as a Governing Board. This is the executive team that is responsible 
for making decisions about commissioning plans – the NHS Portsmouth 
CCG Governing Board meets regularly in public. 

GP 
General Practitioner – a family doctor working from a surgery.

We understand that not 
everybody will be familiar with 
all the terms used in this 
document and hope that this 
glossary might help explain some 
of them. If anything is still 
unclear please let us know at 
enquiries@portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 



34 Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre

Health and Wellbeing Board 
A forum where key leaders from the health and care system work 
together to improve the health and wellbeing of their local population 
and reduce health inequalities.

Healthwatch Portsmouth 
An organisation that provides information to service users, carers and 
the public about local health and care services and how to find their way 
around the system. It represents the views and experiences of service 
users, carers and the public on health and wellbeing boards (see above).

NHS 111 
NHS 111 is a non-emergency phone number that people can use when 
they urgently need medical help or advice but it’s not a life-threatening 
situation.

NHS Five Year Forward View 
The NHS Five Year Forward View, published in October 2014, sets out a 
vision for the future of the NHS. It articulates why change is needed, and 
how we can achieve it, defining the actions required at local and national 
level to support delivery.

Pharmacy First 
A new scheme in Portsmouth that allows people who receive free 
prescriptions to go straight to their pharmacist to receive treatment, for 
selected minor ailments, without needing to visit their GP to get a prescription.

Primary care  
Services which are the main or first point of contact with the NHS for a 
patient, usually GPs and pharmacies.

QA/Queen Alexandra Hospital 
Portsmouth’s main hospital which runs the Emergency Department (A&E, 
sometimes referred to as ED).

Urgent care 
Urgent care is the phrase we use to describe NHS services that can assist 
people when they need help in a hurry but do not need the Emergency 
Department (A&E). Urgent care services include NHS 111, the walk-in 
services at Guildhall Walk and St Mary’s and same day GP appointments.

Urgent care centre 
A service operating alongside A&E that assesses patients who present 
with an illness or injury and directs them to the most appropriate source 
of help for their condition.

Walk in centre/walk in service 
NHS services that can be used by members of the public without the 
need for an appointment.



35Public Consultation Document | NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre



NHS Portsmouth CCG 
CCG Headquarters 
St James’ Hospital  
Locksway Road 
Portsmouth 
PO4 8LD

Tel: 023 9268 4513 
Email: enquiries@portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 
Website: www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk

You can get this NHS information 
in large print, Braille, audio or in 
another language by calling  
023 9268 4513.

Published: November 2015 Ref: 93.9

ä à
å ã



HOSP November 2015 

1 
 

 

 

Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre:  
Formal consultation – engagement plan  
 

1 Background  

The Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre was opened in 2009, as part of the national drive to create ‘Darzi Centres’ to extend the choices available to patients.  

The centre currently has a registered list of around 7,000 people, and demographic characteristics  that make it slightly different from a typical GP practice 

– for example, there is a significant proportion of University students, approximately 1,000 under-19s and only around 150 people aged over 65. The 

practice also offers a service for approximately 140 people who are registered homeless. The facility not only offers a conventional GP service to registered 

patients, it also provides a GP-led ‘walk-in’ service as well and this element in particular relates to the delivery of urgent care services in the city.  

The contract for services provided at Guildhall Walk ends in March 2016, and so decisions are required which may impact both upon primary care, and 

urgent care, provision in Portsmouth. At the same time proposals are being developed that look at the future strategic development of models of care for 

both urgent and primary care which makes this an opportune time to review the future of this particular service. 

2  Urgent care/primary care – the local context 

Over the past decade or so, the provision of urgent care options has extended in response to both national and local policy. As well as the Emergency 

Department (ED), city residents can access two nurse-led walk-in services – one for minor injuries, one for minor illnesses – at St Mary’s Hospital Treatment 

Centre, the GP-led walk-in service for minor illness (but not injuries) at Guildhall Walk, a primary care-led Urgent Care Centre at Queen Alexandra Hospital, 

the 111 phone helpline service (incorporating the out-of-hours GP service), and pharmacies and GP practices offering extended access. All city practices also 

offer some ‘same day’ appointments.  



HOSP November 2015 

2 
 

Despite the expansion of choice, there has been no clear gain in terms of the impact on ED. Attendances at ED are rising less quickly than in many other 

areas, but they are still rising, and performance against the national four-hour access target remains too low. More importantly, the engagement work we 

have already undertaken indicates that local people find the current system difficult to navigate effectively.  

Meanwhile the development of the Portsmouth ‘blueprint’ for health and care, which looks at how services can work in a more integrated way in future to 

transform out of hospital care means that there is a need to rethink how some services are currently delivered. And, alongside this, the local health system 

has developed an urgent care strategy locally to look at how services can best be provided in future in a way that manages local demand and expectation in 

line with the development of national thinking around urgent and emergency services. 

The ending of the current contract for services at Guildhall Walk offers an opportunity to look again at the complex urgent care landscape in the city, and 

identify whether, with the transformation agenda that is beginning to emerge locally, there are more appropriate ways of delivering services in future. 

3  Engagement and consultation  

The CCG is operating a three phase approach to its engagement work with the local people over decisions relating to urgent care. 

   

Phase 1 General engagement work to shape thinking (in this case on urgent care)  Started January 2014 – May 2015 

Phase 2 Public engagement on the options around the future of GW 1st June 2015 – 31st August 2015 

Phase 3 Formal consultation with HOSP and, if HOSP require it, further public 
consultation. 

12 week consultation (taking account of 
Christmas) 

 

Phase 1  GENERAL ENGAGEMENT – key findings 

 

Over the last 18 months the CCG has conducted extensive engagement activities with the general public, patient representatives, and clinicians, to better 

understand how people make decisions about urgent care, and how a more effective system could be delivered.  



HOSP November 2015 

3 
 

The full results of our engagement activity can be found attached above, and include a week-long Under Pressure campaign with The News, a survey of 

more than 800 people in the summer of 2014, and a survey with Wave105 in early 2015. The CCG has also gathered more qualitative feedback from 

representatives of the patient groups aligned to each GP practice. Some recurring messages from public and patients were:  

 Confusion. Most people do not know, for example, the differences between the walk-in facilities at St Mary’s, and Guildhall Walk. Feedback 

suggests patients would prefer a simpler system, even if it meant fewer choices being available.  

 Poorly informed. For example, a notable minority (30%) do not know that GPs offer same-day appointments, and awareness of 111 remains too 

low.  

 Evolving preferences. Most people still want to see a GP for minor illnesses, however a large majority now see a walk-in service as the default 

choice for minor injuries.  

Conversations have also been held with city GPs, over a period of time. Initially the key messages from the clinicians were: 

 Support for a minor injury walk-in service at St Mary’s, adjacent to diagnostic services, but concern regarding the current nurse-led minor illness 

service there (primarily regarding the perception that notable numbers of patients there are subsequently referred elsewhere)  

 Some preference expressed by primary care professionals to have capacity to deal with own patients in-hours. But… concerns over in-hours 

capacity, and how to meet patient expectations  

 Practices recognise the current ongoing need for a GP led walk-in service in the city to manage demand  

More recently the CCG has spoken again with GPs from across the city, regarding urgent care and walk-in services. The feedback suggested:  

 Support for a simplified system, with walk-in services on Portsea Island brought together into a single location  

 Support for a model of walk-in care which combines both GPs and nurses, rather than having separate ‘GP-led’ and ‘nurse-led’ services  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



HOSP November 2015 

4 
 

Phase 2  FOCUSED ENGAGEMENT GHW – key findings 

Between June 2015 and the end of August the CCG engaged with local people and interested parties on both the future of the walk in centre at Guildhall 

Walk and the GP practice and its associated registered list.  

Again, this engagement work produced some clear themes in terms of the feedback received: 

 Asked about the most important factors for the NHS to consider when deciding whether to relocate the walk-in service from Guildhall Walk to St 

Mary’s approximately two-thirds of respondents cited the quality of care as the biggest concern, with access also being important to people – 65% 

highlighted travelling distance, and 58% highlighted the importance of having a service near the city centre. Approximately a third of respondents 

stated the most important factor was ensuring best possible value for public money, or bringing GPs, nurses and diagnostics together in one place 

 When asked for the single most important factor to be considered, access was key – a quarter choosing a city centre location as the prime 

consideration, and a further 22% choosing travelling distance 

 When asked to set out their concerns about the possible move, more than half (55%) expressed doubts that St Mary’s had the capacity to cope with 

the extra activity, 40% feared a reduction in quality, and 39% said they would have further to travel. 

The CCG also approached the independent HealthWatch Portsmouth to ask whether the organisation could carry out some additional engagement. The 

conclusions of HealthWatch following its engagement work included: 

 There were concerns about access from the western side of the city to St Mary’s, and further concerns over the adequacy and affordability of car 

parking facilities at St Mary’s  

 Some respondents questioned whether a single facility would have the capacity to respond to current and future demand, and whether that could 

lead to increased waiting times at St Mary’s 

 Concerns exist about the quality and range of services that would need to be provided in a combined walk-in facility, including crisis and mental 

health services.  

 

 

 



HOSP November 2015 

5 
 

Phase 3  FORMAL CONSULTATION 

We anticipate a formal consultation phase will start in November 2015, as a result of discussions in September with the CCG Governing Board and the 

Portsmouth Health Overview and Scrutiny Panel. The duration of this formal phase will be three months and will allow additional time to cover the 

Christmas/New Year process). The formal consultation will explain the rationale for the proposal being put forward by the CCG including consideration of 

options for the future of Guildhall Walk as both a GP practice and a walk-in facility. A consultation document will be produced, together with a summary 

version and a Q+A sheet amongst other materials. These will need to be made available in different formats. The consultation will seek people’s views on 

the proposal being put forward and will include a specific set of questions for patients registered with the GP practice, as opposed to those who use the 

facility on a walk-in basis. 

A variety of approaches will be utilised for the process involving face to face, meetings, drop in events, web and digital media solutions, traditional media 

and others. An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken for this scheme and will be updated in line with the formal consultation process. 

The objectives for the communications work in support of this consultation are to ensure the CCG meets its statutory duty for public participation including 

the involvement of the public, patients and carers in planning of commissioning arrangements and any proposed changes to services which may impact on 

patients. In particular we need to: 

 Raise awareness: ensure that everyone who wants to be is aware of the consultation and the reasons for it happening; 

 Improve understanding: ensure that people understand the reasons for the consultation, the proposals being considered and the specific elements 

that apply to them (eg there will be a difference in the feedback we are seeking between patients registered at GHW and those who use it as a 

walk-in facility); 

 Encourage participation: ensure that everyone who wants to is able to participate in the consultation, wherever possible in a way that best suits 

them; 

 Offer reassurance: help people understand why their views are important, even if we are putting forward a preferred option, in the shaping of an 

overall proposal. 

 Provide information: this consultation offers us the opportunity to remind people of the wide range of services available to them when they need 

NHS help in a hurry, some of which may be acceptable alternatives to using a walk-in service. 



HOSP November 2015 

6 
 

A wide range of stakeholders will need to be involved in the formal phase of the consultation, many of whom have already shared their views as part of the 

engagement work we have been undertaking. It will therefore be important to acknowledge this when we approach them for help with this stage of the 

process.  

The table that follows identifies the stakeholders that will need to be involved and sets out the means by which we will seek their input. In many cases the 

early stages of the consultation process will need to be used to work with different organisations to find out how best to engage with different client groups 

– some advice has been sought from Healthwatch on this, which has been appreciated.  

Healthwatch Portsmouth is an independent organisation helping local people have their say about how health and social care services are provided in the 

city. It has fed back recommendations to help the CCG engage with local people over Guildhall Walk and will continue to do so throughout the consultation 

process.  It may also independently analyse the responses the CCG receives. If anyone feels the CCG are not providing enough information for them to be 

able to give a response, they should in the first instance contact the CCG. If this query is not resolved, Portsmouth residents can then contact Healthwatch 

Portsmouth on 02393 977079 or at info@healthwatchportsmouth.co.uk. 

Proposed key stakeholder list for formal consultation process. 

This list is not exhaustive and may well be added to as the process unfolds – it does, however, represent our thoughts important stakeholders to consult 

with during this process. 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

 GUILDHALL WALK HEALTHCARE CENTRE   

1 Portsmouth Health Limited Current service provider (via Care UK)  Regular meetings with service lead 

 Consultation document and request 

formal response 

2 GHW Practice Staff Staff affected directly by proposals  Service lead to dictate who best to lead 

this and how it will be done 

3 GHW Practice patients (registered list) Patients affected directly by proposals  Letter to every patient with link to 

formal consultation document and 

mailto:info@healthwatchportsmouth.co.uk


HOSP November 2015 

7 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

 

 

 

 

 

 

explanation of process; feedback invited 

(specific questions to those on registered 

list) 

 Consider need to text reminders at 

lauch, midway through and towards end 

of process) 

 Posters/summaries in Centre 

 Work with practice manager to identify 

best possible approaches 

 LOCAL NHS ORGANISATIONS AND BODIES   

4 NHS England (Wessex) Key partner and NHS Gateway review requirements  Regular meetings re assurance process 

 Consultation document and request 

formal response 

 Regular updates through usual 

monitoring channels 

 Specific email to primary care/pharmacy 

leads to request dissemination of 

consultation information 

5 Local GPs CCG members and links to walk-in services  Email to each senior 

partner/commissioning lead and practice 

manager with link to consultation 

document and requesting response 

 Regular news item on PIP 

 TARGET sessions update 

 GP Commissioning event updates 



HOSP November 2015 

8 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

6 Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust Board Key partner/urgent care system provider  Consultation document and request 

formal response 

 Posters/summaries in A&E? 

7 Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust staff Interested party  Syndicated article for 

newsletters/intranet containing link to 

consultation document and how to 

respond 

8 Solent NHS Trust Board Key partner/urgent care system provider  Consultation document and request 

formal response 

9 Solent NHS Trust staff Interested party  Syndicated article for 

newsletters/intranet containing link to 

consultation document and how to 

respond 

10 Care UK/St Marys NHS Treatment Centre  Key partner/urgent care system provider/affected by 

walk-in proposals 

 Consultation document and request 

formal response 

 Posters/summaries in Centre  

 Syndicated article for 

newsletters/intranet containing link to 

consultation document 

11 NHS Fareham and Gosport CCG  Key partner/urgent care system   Consultation document and request 

formal response  

 Syndicated article for newsletters 

containing link to consultation document 

12 NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG Key partner/urgent care system   Consultation document and request 

formal response  



HOSP November 2015 

9 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

 Syndicated article for newsletters 

containing link to consultation document 

13 South Central Ambulance Service 

 

 

 

Key partner/urgent care system provider  Consultation document and request 

formal response 

 Syndicated article for newsletters 

containing link to consultation document  

 ELECTED MEMBERS   

14 Local MPs Key stakeholder  Consultation document and request 

formal response 

 Offer update meeting 

15 Portsmouth City Council Councillors Key stakeholder  Direct contact with PCC councillors in 

closest wards  

 Consultation document and invite 

response 

 Members Information Service updates 

 PATIENTS GROUPS   

16 Guildhall Walk Patient Participation Group Patient group – directly affected by proposals  Send consultation document to chair 

and request formal response 

 Meeting – agree with practice how best 

to take forward 



HOSP November 2015 

10 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

17 Portsmouth PPG Network Wider patient group – key stakeholder  Email with link to consultation document 

 Update at network meetings 

18 Solent NHS Trust members Wider patient group – interested parties  Email with link to consultation document 

and invitation to respond 

19 Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust members Wider patient group – interested parties  Email with link to consultation document 

and invitation to respond 

 Seek publicity through PHT Facebook 

page 

20 Portsmouth CCG Healthy Discussions 

Group (online forum) 

Wider patient group – key stakeholder  Email with link to consultation and 

invitation to respond 

21 PUSH Patient group – directly affected by proposals   Explore scope for PUSH to support 

consultation phase with more 1:1 work 

with clients (as engagement phase) 

 There are other groups who may also be 

able to help here but PUSH were helpful 

in engagement phase. 

22 Solent Learning Disability Service Links into LD patients affected by proposal – support 

with ‘easy read’ materials 

 Work with Solent NHS trust and to their 

easy read guidelines to produce 

appropriate materials and share with 

clients 

 ORGANISATIONS DIRECTLY AFFECTED   

23 Portsmouth University students and staff High volume users of service – directly affected  Approach University for support in 

disseminating information to students 

and staff – via Comms and Welfare 



HOSP November 2015 

11 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

Teams 

 ? specific drop-in event(s) at University 

24 Portsmouth University Students Union High volume users of service – directly affected  As above – newsletters, posters etc 

25 ?University Language School/foreign 

students 

Potential high volume users of service – directly 

affected 

 As 23 

26 Lalys pharmacy Neighbouring pharmacy – affected by proposal/impact 

on service/alternative minor illness service provider 

 Consultation document and invite 

response 

 Update meeting with owner on progress 

if required 

27 Guildhall Walk businesses Potential users of service – affected by proposal  Door drop posters and summaries 

28 Portsmouth Central Library Potential users of service, signpost to service  Venue for drop-in events or information 

stands? 

 Posters and summaries  

29 Portsmouth City Council staff Potential high volume users of service – directly 

affected 

 Syndicated article for 

newsletters/intranet containing link to 

consultation document and how to 

respond 

30 PCC Housing Team Signpost to service, affected by proposal  Seek advice from PCC executive team on 

most appropriate approach 

 MONITORING BODIES   

31 Portsmouth Health Overview and Scrutiny Monitoring of process – directly affected. Key  Consultation document and request 

formal response 



HOSP November 2015 

12 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

Panel stakeholder  Regular updates at meetings 

 Informal meetings and briefings as 

required 

32 Healthwatch Portsmouth Independent advice and analysis – key stakeholder and 

link to patient groups 

 Advice and guidance on processes 

 Approach for support with consultation 

with specific groups  

 Consultation document and request 

formal response 

33 Hampshire HASC Monitoring of process – directly affected. Key 

stakeholder 

 Consultation document and request 

formal response 

 Regular updates at meetings 

 Informal meetings and briefings as 

required 

 OTHER PARTNERS   

34 Portsmouth City Council executive Key stakeholder  Consultation document and request 

formal response 

35 PCC Director of Public Health and team Key stakeholder – interest in homeless service provision  Consultation document and request 

formal response 

 Consider any further homeless people 

needs analysis work 

36 Portsmouth Health and Wellbeing Board Key stakeholder  Consultation document and request 

formal response 

 Attendance/update at meetings as 

required 



HOSP November 2015 

13 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

37 Salvation Army (Homeless population) Support for engagement with homeless service users  Explore scope for SA to support 

consultation phase with more focus 

group work with clients (as engagement 

phase) 

38 Local pharmacies Alternative service providers  Posters and summaries 

 Formal approach via NHS England 

39 Local neighbourhood forums  

 

 

Interested parties/affected by proposals (inc Portsea 

Action Group.) 

 Work with PCC to identify most 

appropriate means of disseminating 

information 

 VOLUNTARY/COMMUNITY SECTOR 

ORGANISATIONS (including but not 

restricted to…) 

  

40 Groups and organisations including but not 

restricted to: 

Two Saints 

PRENO 

MIND 

Headway 

Off the Record 

Alzheimers Society  

AGE UK 

Red Cross (inc their drop-ins and cross 

cultural men’s group),  

Information disseminators   Email link to consultation document and 

request share with members 

 Request information about how best to 

engage further with them if they wish 

 Use of PCC Voluntary Sector Newsletter 

to share messages 



HOSP November 2015 

14 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

Portsmouth Foyer 

Roberts Centre 

Learning Links (Work Programme and 

Families Moving Forward projects),  

Action Portsmouth,  

Parent & Carers Board and different faith 

groups. 

 

41 Portsmouth Disability Forum Key stakeholder - Information disseminators  Email link to consultation document and 

request share with members 

 Posters/summaries to Sorrell Centre 

 Seek advice from PDF on most 

appropriate means of providing 

information 

 Use of Health Café for drop in session? 

42 Pompey Pensioners Information disseminators  Email link to consultation document and 

request share with members 

43 Carers Networks Information disseminators  Email link to consultation document and 

request share with members 

 GENERAL PUBLIC   

44 Walk-in users of the centre Patients directly affected by proposals  Posters and summaries in GHW – 

information about how to comment 

 Information for GHW website 



HOSP November 2015 

15 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

45 Walk-in users at St Mary’s Treatment 

Centre 

Patients indirectly affected by proposals  Posters and summaries in SMTC – 

information about how to comment 

 Information for Care UK website 

46 General public Interested party 

Drop in events arranged for  

Cascades Shopping Centre  

Portsmouth Central Library (static display stands and 

information/feedback forms) plus series of drop-in 

events. Library is in Guildhall Square so useful as a focal 

point. 

We are seeking advice from Healthwatch on other 

means of promoting the consultation to public 

audiences and this will continue throughout the 

process. 

 Media and social/digital media 

promotion  

 Posters and summaries in key locations 

 Regular reminders 

 Series of public drop-in events and 

market stalls – focused on city centre 

locations primarily. 

 Voluntary sector newsletter 

 Partner newsletters, including NHS 

Providers, PCC, Healthwatch, Action 

Portsmouth 

 Seek partner support in promoting 

awareness 

 ?Life Channel screens 

 ?Information to local 

schools/churches/drop in centres etc 

 Talk to Care UK about what can be 

undertaken at St Mary’s Treatment 

Centre eg tours/drop in (nb active care 

facility working long hours) or 

video/virtual tours 

47 38 Degrees Patient Body Interested party (petition)  Email link to consultation document and 

request share with members 



HOSP November 2015 

16 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

 MEDIA   

48 The News  Key stakeholder/interested party/information 

disseminator 

 Proactive and reactive work as usual 

 Briefings and updates as required 

49 BBC South/Solent Interested party/information disseminator  Proactive and reactive work as usual 

 Briefings and updates as required 

50 Express FM/Wave 105FM Key stakeholder/interested party/information 

disseminator/Previous partner with winter urgent care 

campaign/engagement – scope for follow up activity 

 Proactive and reactive work as usual 

 Briefings and updates as required 

51 Meridian TV Interested party/information disseminator  Proactive and reactive work as usual 

 Briefings and updates as required 

 DIGITAL/SOCIAL MEDIA   

52 PCCG twitter followers Support tool for promoting consultation  Programme of regular tweets to raise 

awareness and promote involvement 

 Seek support from partners re retweets 

53 Urgent Care Pompey Facebook  Support tool for promoting consultation  Regular posts on FB site with occasional 

purchase of ‘boost’ advertising 

 Consider development of video content 

54 Portsmouth CCG website Support tool for promoting consultation  Focal point for digital content but link 

closely with Twitter and Facebook 

activity 

 Banner from homepage for duration of 

consultation 



HOSP November 2015 

17 
 

 Stakeholder  Media/method 

 Blog activity? 

 Regular updates  

 Consider development of video content 

55 Information for partner websites/social 

media pages 

Support tool for promoting consultation  Approach NHS, community and public 

sector partners for support with posting 

and signposting information 

 Syndicated article for web updates  

containing link to consultation document 

and how to respond 

 

4 Main communications tools and approaches 

As the table above indicates a range of different approaches and media will be used to ensure that all stakeholders, as well as service users and members of 

the public are aware of the consultation and have the opportunity to participate.  

These can be grouped into three key categories as outlined below but it will also be important to seek advice directly from harder to reach groups on how 

best to consult with their members specifically and may involve interpreters, focus groups, or routes through community leaders (as opposed to surveys 

only.)  

Approach  Cost? Y/N £ 

    

WRITTEN COMMUNICATIONS    

Consultation document, summary and supporting materials Available to all Y  

Letters to patients  Registered patients at GHW - making them aware of the consultation 
and inviting them to participate directly 

Y  

Text/email reminders Registered patients at GHW, partner organisations Y (text)  

Posters General availability – to raise awareness of consultation Y  



HOSP November 2015 

18 
 

Approach  Cost? Y/N £ 

Syndicated articles General availability – launch and reminders N  

Regular updates for publication online (see digital below) General availability – reminders N  

Media releases Local media outlets – raise awareness/launch/reminders N  

    

FACE TO FACE/EVENTS    

FTF meetings MPs, GHW/pharmacy staff, HOSP updates, GHW PPG N  

GP TARGET  Local GPs N  

GP commissioning evening Local GPs N  

PPG network Patient representatives N  

Focus groups Explore opportunities to follow up on engagement activity conducted 
through partner organisations -  eg Healthwatch, Salvation Army, PUSH – 
as trusted, independent voices. 

Y  

Drop in events  Run a series across the city – majority focused in Guildhall/city centre 
area but also aim for specific University sessions and one at St Mary’s  

Y  

HOSP meetings  N  

CCG GB meetings  N  

Offers to attend partner meetings  N  

    

DIGITAL/SOCIAL MEDIA    

CCG website Focal point for information N  

PIP Local GP extranet N  

PCC Members Information Service  Online service for PCC local councillors N  

CCG Healthy Discussions Group Small online patient reference group N  

PHT/Solent members Update email ?  

Social media (CCG Twitter account, Urgent Care Pompey 
FB) 

 Y (FB 
boost) 

 

Partners social media  N  

    

 

5 Key messages 



HOSP November 2015 

19 
 

The CCG will need a set of consistent, clear messages that it will want to promote at the time that the consultation is launched, and as the process 

continues.  These may need to be refined and adapted as the consultation unfolds. 

Around the process: 

 We are consulting on preferred options established following an extensive period of engagement. 

 Engagement can make a difference - the views of local people have already contributed to the way we have drawn together our preferred options 

and we would encourage everyone who wants to participate to have their say. 

 We need to ensure that people understand the nature of this consultation process – that we are consulting on a preferred option and seeking their 

views on this and providing an opportunity to highlight views on the proposal and share concerns and considerations. 

Around our vision for urgent care 

We want to deliver: 

 Joined up care. So people get the care they need – all of it, not just some – without being ‘bounced’ to other services, or referred elsewhere, unless 

absolutely necessary.  

 Simple choices. To make it easy for people to get the care they need without having to worry about whether they are in the ‘right’ place or not, and 

to cut down the times that patients are handed over from one service to another. 

 High quality care. Expert staff, backed up by modern equipment and technology, in the best possible premises. 

 Specialist expertise. Strengthening A&E and ambulance services so that they have the skills and capacity to give people high-quality, life-saving care 

when they are in crisis. 

Around the reasons for change: 

 The local urgent care system has become confusing. Both nationally and locally there is a recognition that the NHS needs to give people simple, 

clear choices about where to go for urgent care. In turn, simpler choices can help people to make better choices about where to get care. 

 Over the past decade, the city has developed a system of access to primary care which is not equal across the whole population. A relatively small 

number of people (7,000 registered patients, including a significant percentage of students residing in Portsmouth during term-time only) have 



HOSP November 2015 

20 
 

seven-day access to their GP at Guildhall Walk, funded by local NHS funds – those funds do not benefit the rest of the 200,000 registered patients in 

the city. That said, the service as it stands is highly valued by those who use it, both as a walk-in facility and as registered patients. 

 The NHS must spend public money wisely: currently it is paying money to rent space in some locations, such as the Somerstown Hub, and the John 

Pounds Centre, which is un(der)used. This exercise is not driven by cost saving but there is scope to save some element of expenditure that could 

then be used in other services. 

Around the benefits of change: 

The preferred option of creating a combined, enhanced walk-in centre at St Mary’s Hospital would secure many improvements. We would seek to explain 

the benefits through the use of four key phrases: 

Patient care would be better  

Choices would be simpler 

Resources would be used more effectively 

It helps keep NHS services located on Portsea Island for the long term 

 

6 Communications and Engagement Risks 

Communications and engagement risks will be identified through the appropriate risk management process for this overall project. A risk analysis is 

available on request. 

7 Evaluation of feedback 

It will be important to ensure that we can demonstrate that analysis of all feedback received has been conducted independently. Initial discussions have 

been held with Healthwatch Portsmouth to seek their support with this, either working with them directly or through a third party organisation 

recommended by  them. Further discussions will be undertaken once the format of the consultation document, and its constituent questions, are 

confirmed. 

 



November 2015     
www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

 

Public consultation – summary document 

The future of the GP practice at  

Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre 
 

In 2016 the contract for the GP practice at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre is due to run 

out. Such contracts cannot legally just be left in place indefinitely, and so NHS Portsmouth 

Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) must consider the future of the services at Guildhall 

Walk - both the ‘walk-in’ service there, and the GP practice. 
 

So what do we want to do? 

As we are contractually obliged to look again at the services at Guildhall 

Walk, we want to see whether positive changes can be made, particularly 

when thinking about our wider healthcare plans for the city. 

Discussions have been underway for some time with local clinicians and 

organisations such as the University of Portsmouth, and patients who use 

the GP practice at Guildhall Walk were asked for their initial views in the 

summer. 

Our proposal for the future 

As a result of the feedback received, we are proposing that: 

 Registered patients would still all have their own, dedicated practice but it would no 

longer be at Guildhall Walk.  

 Instead patients would be registered at a new practice, in a building already funded 

by the NHS and near the city centre.  

 The most likely options are the new Somerstown Central, or the John Pounds Centre. 

 

How we developed this proposal 

The proposal to move patients to a new practice, no longer at Guildhall Walk, has 

been shaped by feedback received so far. Your feedback highlighted: 

 Concerns that the practice would be closed down 

 That patients value the long opening hours, and the ‘walk in and wait’ 

appointments 

 Concerns about getting to a practice, if it was located somewhere else 

 Concerns over the future of services for vulnerable groups, and for students 



 
  

Your feedback so far has helped us shape the proposal and means that: 

 We have rejected an earlier option to simply let the GP practice contract end, 

without being replaced. That may have been possible, but it wasn’t right for patients 

 ‘Walk in and wait’ appointments will be offered by the new practice 

 The new practice will have the longest-possible opening hours (although we cannot 

keep funding a single practice to offer a seven-day, 8am-8pm service) 

 The new practice will be near the city centre 

 A dedicated service for vulnerable groups will continue 

 We are talking with the Portsmouth University about how best to support students. 

What we want to achieve 

When the Guildhall Walk contracts end in 2016, the CCG wants to secure: 

Seven-day access for all: Ideally, everyone would have seven-day access to GPs now, but 

that would need dozens of doctors and millions of pounds – neither of which exist today. To 

achieve this goal we must improve access for the whole city (not just one practice).  

Fairness: the NHS must be for everyone – the CCG is currently paying a premium rate so 

that one group of people (7,000 Guildhall Walk patients) have better access to GPs than the 

other 200,000 city residents. That is a basic unfairness. 

Effective use of resources: We effectively ‘double pay’ for premises – we rent the Guildhall 

Walk building from private landlords, while space in public-sector city buildings is unused.  

GP services which are built to last: GP services must change, anyway. Fewer doctors are 

becoming GPs, more services are moving out of large hospitals, and people expect to to see 

a GP seven days a week. So, practices must work together, at a larger scale, to survive. 

Find out more 

This is only short summary of the proposal to relocate the current GP 

practice and create a single, enhanced walk-in service at St Mary’s 

Treatment Centre. Our full consultation document is on our website. 

 

Get involved 

If you are registered at Guildhall Walk we would like your views on the 

proposed new practice, and any other matters you feel are important, 

before decisions are taken. This consultation runs for three months, so 

you have until Friday 19th February 2016, to tell us your views, either by: 

 Completing the questionnaire which is being  posted to you as a practice patient and 

returning it to Freepost NHS PORTSMOUTH. 

 Visiting www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk to find out more and to access the 

online questionnaire. 

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk


November 2015     
www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

 

Public consultation – summary document 

NHS services at Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre 
 

We want to bring together the two NHS walk-in services which currently operate at 

Guildhall Walk and at St Mary’s Treatment Centre. We want to create a single, enhanced 

walk-in centre for the city, based at St Mary’s, with doctors, nurses and diagnostic 

facilities all in one place. 
 

Why we want to do this 

The current system isn’t working. The local NHS has invested massively in new 

services to try to ease pressure on GP services and A&E, but problems persist. 

People are confused. For example, the local NHS asked more than 300 city residents 

whether they could explain the differences between the walk-in services at Guildhall 

Walk, and St Mary’s. Only 25% said they could. Similarly, only one-third of the 

sample knew that GPs offer ‘same day’ access to those who need it. If services are 

complicated, it is hard for people to make the right choice.  

There is a national drive to simplify services. It’s not just Portsmouth 

looking to change. Nationally, the NHS has recognised that it must give 

people clearer choices. 

Effective use of public funds. Public money pays for two separate walk-in 

centres, two miles apart, to offer similar services – the NHS must consider 

whether that makes sense. We also pay rent to private landlords to use the 

Guildhall Walk building, when there is spare space in other buildings which 

are funded by the NHS – that money could be spent on services, not rent.  

So what do we want to do? 

We want to create an urgent care system where: 

 All patients using ‘walk-in’ services can see a GP or a nurse – 

whichever is right for them. That is not the case now. 

 All patients at walk-in services have direct access to diagnostics 

such as X-rays. That is not the case now.  

 Patients are not sent away or referred elsewhere, unless medically 

essential. That is not the case now. 

 All walk-in services are delivered in modern, purpose-built 

facilities. That is not the case now.  



 
  

Why change now? 

The contracts held by the private company which provides NHS services at Guildhall Walk 

run out in 2016. It is not possible for the NHS to simply leave those contracts in place and so 

decisions are needed now. 

Benefits of change 

Better care. A single walk-in centre would keep the strengths of the services at both St 

Mary’s and Guildhall Walk, but get rid of most of the limitations. The new centre would 

mean that all (not just some) walk-in patients could: 

 See either a GP or a nurse, whichever is right for them 

 Have diagnostic tests such as X–rays (and get the results) there and then, not be 

referred elsewhere 

 Be treated by staff with direct access to specialist expertise at QA Hospital. 

A simpler system. Today, people have numerous choices for urgent care – ‘same-day’ GP 

appointments, pharmacists, the NHS 111 service, a nurse-led walk-in service, a GP-led walk-

in service, and A&E for emergencies. Creating a single, combined walk-in service would start 

to simplify that complicated system. 

A more efficient system. A single centre would mean the NHS no longer pays for two 

similar, but entirely separate, walk-in services within two miles of each other. The staff 

would also be able to work more effectively as a single team, and services would not be 

duplicated. 

Find out more 

This is only short summary of the proposal to create a single, enhanced walk-in service at St 

Mary’s Treatment Centre. For more detail go to www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk 

Get involved 

This consultation runs for three months and we would like to hear your views. Please tell us, 

by Friday 19th February 2016, either by: 

 Visiting www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk and 

responding on line – you can also find lots more information 

about our proposals there. 

 Or completing the printed survey contained within the full 

consultation document, which can be found in many public 

buildings in Portsmouth, or from our website. You can 

return it to Freepost NHS PORTSMOUTH. 

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk
http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/guildhallwalk

	Agenda
	4 Urgent Care and Walk in Centres
	Urgent Care: the 
vision for the future
	Section 1
	The case for change

	Section 2
	Improving urgent care: what we have learned

	Section 3
	Improving urgent care: other key factors

	Section 4
	Supporting information

	Section 5
	The future of the 
GP practice

	Section 6
	Summary, and how you get involved
	Glossary

	Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre engagement plan for HOSP Nov 15
	list summary DESIGNED
	walk-in summary DESIGNED


